About the Book

Cultivating Progress: New Frontiers in Agricultural Science and Technology is a book that explores the innovations and advancements in agriculture, particularly how scientific research and technological breakthroughs are shaping the future of food production. The book delves into the latest developments in agricultural science, highlighting the critical role of cutting-edge technologies such as biotechnology, nanotechnology, data analytics, and precision farming in enhancing crop yields, improving sustainability, and addressing global food security challenges.

Published by AkiNik Publications[®] 169, C-11, Sector - 3, Rohini, Delhi - 110085, India Toll Free (India): 18001234070 Email: akinikbooks@gmail.com



Cultivating Progress: New Frontiers in Agricultural Science and Technology

AkiNik Publications



CULTIVATING PROGRESS New Frontiers in Agricultural Science and Technology

Tanmoy Sarkar and Sudip Sengupta



Cultivating Progress

New Frontiers in Agricultural Science and Technology

Authors

Tanmoy Sarkar Sudip Sengupta

AkiNik Publications ® New Delhi Published By: AkiNik Publications

AkiNik Publications 169, C-11, Sector - 3, Rohini, Delhi-110085, India Toll Free (India) – 18001234070 Phone No.: 9711224068, 9911215212 Website: www.akinik.com Email: akinikbooks@gmail.com

Authors: Tanmoy Sarkar and Sudip Sengupta

The author/publisher has attempted to trace and acknowledge the materials reproduced in this publication and apologize if permission and acknowledgements to publish in this form have not been given. If any material has not been acknowledged please write and let us know so that we may rectify it.

© AkiNik Publications [™] Publication Year: 2025 Edition: 1st Pages: 118 Paperback ISBN: 978-93-6135-454-0 EBook ISBN: 978-93-6135-255-3 Book DOI: https://doi.org/10.22271/ed.book.3189 Price: ₹680/-

Registration Details

- Printing Press License No.: F.1 (A-4) press 2016
- Trade Mark Registered Under
 - Class 16 (Regd. No.: 5070429)
 - Class 35 (Regd. No.: 5070426)
 - Class 41 (Regd. No.: 5070427)
 - Class 42 (Regd. No.: 5070428)

Preface

Agriculture stands at the crossroads of innovation and tradition, where timehonored practices meet cutting-edge science to address the evolving challenges of our era. Cultivating Progress: New Frontiers in Agricultural Science and Technology is a comprehensive exploration of the latest advancements in agricultural research and their transformative potential for the future of food production and environmental sustainability. This book brings together a collection of pioneering studies that highlight the diverse strategies and technologies reshaping the agricultural landscape.

In the chapter on the Evaluation of sources and methods of pectin extraction from citrus fruit, the text delves into the intricacies of extracting this valuable compound, essential for both food and pharmaceutical industries, revealing the most efficient and sustainable practices. The subsequent Comparative Study on Landsat and Sentinel Satellites emphasizes the role of remote sensing in precision agriculture, offering insights into how these technologies can enhance crop monitoring and management.

The book also tackles pressing issues in agricultural sustainability, such as the Biological Control of Parthenium Weed, which presents eco-friendly strategies to manage this invasive species, and Addressing Soil Erosion: Approaches for Sustainable Agriculture and Environmental Preservation, where the focus is on innovative techniques to prevent soil degradation. Understanding Fusarium Wilt: Impacts, Causes, and Management Across Various Crop Species provides a detailed analysis of one of the most devastating plant diseases, proposing comprehensive management strategies to mitigate its impact.

Further, the book explores the Role of Vectors in Plant Virus Transmission and Mitigation Protocols, highlighting the intricate relationships between vectors and plant pathogens, and the strategies to break these cycles. It also addresses environmental concerns with unearthing the Menace of Microplastic Pollution in Earth's Silent Crisis, a critical examination of microplastic contamination in agricultural soils and its long-term effects.

The chapters on Anther Culture: A Boon to Commercial Agriculture and Advancing Agriculture through Chloroplast Genetic Engineering: Challenges and Opportunities showcase the potential of biotechnology to revolutionize plant breeding and genetic engineering, paving the way for more resilient and productive crops. Finally, Navigating Climate-Smart Agriculture: Principles, Practices, and Prospects encapsulates the overarching theme of this book— how innovative practices can lead agriculture into a future that is not only more productive but also more resilient to climate change.

As you journey through these chapters, you will discover the vast potential of science and technology to redefine agriculture in the 21st century. This book is intended for researchers, policymakers, and practitioners who are committed to advancing agricultural knowledge and practice for a sustainable and food-secure world. Together, these chapters provide a roadmap for cultivating progress, ensuring that agriculture continues to thrive in harmony with our planet's ecosystems.

> Dr. Tanmoy Sarkar Dr. Sudip Sengupta

Contributors

Dr. Tanmoy Sarkar

Assistant Professor, School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Telinipara, Barrackpore, North 24 Parganas, West Bengal, India

Dr. Sudip Sengupta

Assistant Professor, School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Telinipara, Barrackpore, North 24 Parganas, West Bengal, India

Dr. Suprabuddha Kundu

Assistant Professor, School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Telinipara, Barrackpore, North 24 Parganas, West Bengal, India

Dr. Avishek Chatterjee

Assistant Professor, School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Telinipara, Barrackpore, North 24 Parganas, West Bengal, India

Dr. Ria Mukhopadhyay

Assistant Professor, School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Telinipara, Barrackpore, North 24 Parganas, West Bengal, India

Dr. Sahely Kanthal

Assistant Professor, School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Telinipara, Barrackpore, North 24 Parganas, West Bengal, India

Parijat Bhattacharya

Assistant Professor, School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Telinipara, Barrackpore, North 24 Parganas, West Bengal, India

Rakesh Das

Assistant Professor, School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Telinipara, Barrackpore, North 24 Parganas, West Bengal, India

Tanmoy Majhi

Assistant Professor, School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Telinipara, Barrackpore, North 24 Parganas, West Bengal, India

Sayani Bhowmick

Assistant Professor, School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Telinipara, Barrackpore, North 24 Parganas, West Bengal, India

Sultana Moriom Biswas

UG Student, School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Telinipara, Barrackpore, North 24 Parganas, West Bengal, India

Dipak Giri

UG Student, School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Telinipara, Barrackpore, North 24 Parganas, West Bengal, India

Anusmita Bhowmik

UG Student, School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Telinipara, Barrackpore, North 24 Parganas, West Bengal, India

Ankana Moulik

UG Student, School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Telinipara, Barrackpore, North 24 Parganas, West Bengal, India

Arindam Santra

UG Student, School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Telinipara, Barrackpore, North 24 Parganas, West Bengal, India

Pritom Pal

UG Student, School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Telinipara, Barrackpore, North 24 Parganas, West Bengal, India

Nitesh Kumar Dandasena

UG Student, School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Telinipara, Barrackpore, North 24 Parganas, West Bengal, India

Nabanita Khatua

UG Student, School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Telinipara, Barrackpore, North 24 Parganas, West Bengal, India

Akram Gazi

UG Student, School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Telinipara, Barrackpore, North 24 Parganas, West Bengal, India

Rimita Dutta

UG Student, School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Telinipara, Barrackpore, North 24 Parganas, West Bengal, India

Ayesha Khatun

UG Student, School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Telinipara, Barrackpore, North 24 Parganas, West Bengal, India

Shreya Modak

UG Student, School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Telinipara, Barrackpore, North 24 Parganas, West Bengal, India

Krishnendu Roy

UG Student, School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Telinipara, Barrackpore, North 24 Parganas, West Bengal, India

Pallabi Chatterjee

UG Student, School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Telinipara, Barrackpore, North 24 Parganas, West Bengal, India

Tuhina Khatun

UG Student, School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Telinipara, Barrackpore, North 24 Parganas, West Bengal, India

Arup Dutta

UG Student, School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Telinipara, Barrackpore, North 24 Parganas, West Bengal, India

About the Book

Cultivating Progress is a comprehensive exploration of the latest advancements in agricultural science and technology, focusing on the innovative approaches that are driving sustainable development in agriculture. The book presents a detailed examination of various cutting-edge topics, each of which addresses critical challenges in modern agriculture and offers potential solutions for a more resilient and productive agricultural future.

The first chapter delves into the methods of extracting pectin, a valuable polysaccharide used in food and pharmaceutical industries, from various citrus fruits. It evaluates different sources and extraction techniques, comparing their efficiency, yield, and quality of pectin. The chapter provides insights into optimizing pectin extraction processes, offering potential economic benefits for the citrus industry.

Remote sensing technology plays a crucial role in monitoring agricultural landscapes. The next chapter provides a comparative analysis of Landsat and Sentinel satellites, highlighting their applications in agriculture. It discusses the advantages and limitations of each satellite system, offering guidance on selecting the appropriate tool for various agricultural monitoring tasks, such as crop health assessment and land use planning.

Parthenium weed is a highly invasive species that threatens agricultural productivity and biodiversity. The third chapter explores biological control methods for managing Parthenium, focusing on the use of natural enemies, such as insects and pathogens, to suppress its growth. It provides case studies from different regions and discusses the effectiveness, challenges, and ecological impacts of these biological control strategies.

Soil erosion is a significant threat to agricultural sustainability and environmental health. The subsequent chapter examines various approaches to mitigate soil erosion, including conservation tillage, cover cropping, and agroforestry. It emphasizes the importance of integrating these practices into farming systems to maintain soil fertility, enhance water retention, and protect natural resources.

Fusarium wilt is a devastating plant disease that affects many crop species, leading to significant yield losses. The fifth chapter provides an indepth analysis of the disease, exploring its causes, symptoms, and impacts on different crops. It also reviews current management strategies, including resistant varieties, crop rotation, and fungicidal treatments, offering practical solutions for farmers and agronomists.

Vectors such as insects play a critical role in the transmission of plant viruses, leading to widespread crop diseases. The next chapter investigates the biology and behavior of these vectors, the mechanisms of virus transmission, and the development of mitigation protocols. It discusses integrated pest management (IPM) strategies, including the use of biological control agents and resistant crop varieties, to reduce the impact of plant viruses on agriculture.

Microplastic pollution is an emerging global environmental issue that poses a threat to agricultural ecosystems. The seventh chapter explores the sources, distribution, and impact of microplastics on soil health and plant growth. It also examines current research on microplastic degradation and the potential for developing sustainable agricultural practices that minimize plastic use and pollution.

Anther culture is a plant tissue culture technique that allows for the rapid production of homozygous lines, which are essential for breeding programs. The next chapter discusses the principles and applications of anther culture in commercial agriculture, highlighting its role in accelerating the development of high-yielding and disease-resistant crop varieties. It also covers the challenges and future prospects of this technology in crop improvement.

Chloroplast genetic engineering offers a promising avenue for enhancing crop traits, such as resistance to pests and diseases, and improving photosynthetic efficiency. The penultimate chapter explores the technical challenges and opportunities associated with chloroplast transformation, discussing the potential applications of this technology in sustainable agriculture and the hurdles that must be overcome to realize its full potential.

Climate-smart agriculture (CSA) is an approach that seeks to increase agricultural productivity, enhance resilience to climate change, and reduce greenhouse gas emissions. The last chapter provides a comprehensive overview of CSA principles and practices, including the adoption of climateresilient crops, water management techniques, and agroforestry systems. It also examines the policy frameworks and institutional support needed to implement CSA on a global scale.

Cultivating Progress is an essential resource for researchers, policymakers, and practitioners in the field of agriculture, offering a wealth of knowledge on the innovative strategies that are shaping the future of farming. Through its in-depth analysis and practical insights, this book aims to inspire and inform efforts towards a more sustainable and resilient agricultural system.

Acknowledgement

We extend our deepest gratitude to the honorable Vice Chancellor for his unwavering support in the successful publication. Our heartfelt appreciation is also due to the University's Registrar for enthusiastic encouragement and inspiring our team to reach new heights. We are truly honored to have received blessings and support from such esteemed figures within the university.

It is essential to acknowledge that the realization of this publication would not have been possible without Mr. Saurabh Adhikari's (Chief Operating Officer) foresight and dedication to the idea of publication. His visionary leadership and unwavering support have been pivotal to the realization of this endeavor. His insightful suggestions, encouragement, and dedication played a crucial role in shaping the direction of our publication. We deeply appreciate his foresight, which not only led to the conception of this book but also ensured its successful execution. His enthusiastic endorsement of the project from the beginning has been a source of inspiration to our team.

Contents

S. No.	Chapters	Page Nos.
1	Evaluation of Sources and Method of Pectin Extraction from Citrus Fruit	01-11
	(Sultana Moriom Biswas, Dipak Giri and Tanmoy Sarkar)	
2	A Comparative Study on Landsat and Sentinel Satellites (Anusmita Bhowmik, Ankana Moulik and Tanmoy Majhi)	13-27
3	Biological Control of Parthenium Weed (Arindam Santra and Sahely Kanthal)	29-37
4	Addressing Soil Erosion: Approaches for Sustainable Agriculture and Environmental Preservation	39-50
5	Understanding Fusarium Wilt: Impacts, Causes, and Management Across Various Crop Species (Nabanita Khatua, Akram Gazi and Ria Mukhopadhyay)	51-62
6	Role of Vectors towards Plant Virus Transmission and Mitigation Protocol	63-72
7	Unearthing the Menace of Microplastic Pollution in Earth's Silent Crisis (Rimita Dutta, Sudip Sengupta)	73-88
8	Anther Culture: Boon to the Commercial Agriculture (Ayesha Khatun, Suprabuddha Kundu)	89-96
9	Advancing Agriculture through Chloroplast Genetic Engineering: Challenges and Opportunities (Shreya Modak, Arup Dutta and Avishek Chatterjee)	97-107
10	Navigating Climate-Smart Agriculture: Principles, Practices, and Prospects	109-118

(Sayani Bhowmick)

Chapter - 1

Evaluation of Sources and Method of Pectin Extraction from Citrus Fruit

Authors

Sultana Moriom Biswas

Department of Agricultural Engineering, Swami Vivekananda University, Barrackpore, West Bengal, India

Dipak Giri

Department of Agricultural Engineering, Swami Vivekananda University, Barrackpore, West Bengal, India

Tanmoy Sarkar

Department of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Barrackpore, West Bengal, India

Chapter - 1

Evaluation of Sources and Method of Pectin Extraction from Citrus Fruit

Sultana Moriom Biswas, Dipak Giri and Tanmoy Sarkar

Abstract

Pectin is widely used as a gelling agent, thickener, emulsifier and stabilizer in different food processing operations. Chemically it represents a polysaccharide, which is present in different amount in cell walls of all land plants. But citrus fruit is very rich in this component and can be used as source for its production commercially. In this study, lemon peel was selected as a representative of the citrus fruit family to extract pectin because of the abundance of the fruit in Assam. Grounded lemon peel was digested in a solution of 1:30 citric acid (pH 2) at a temperature of 90°C for 1 hours. The solid mass is filtered out and the filtrate is treated with different low molecular weight alcohol such as methanol, ethanol and isopropanol to precipitate the pectin out. The precipitate is dried at 40°C under vacuum. The structure of the product is yet to confirm by Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy (FTIR) analysis. The product is characterized by the parameters as methoxyl content, anhydrouronic acid content, degree of esterification, equivalent weight and intrinsic viscosity. The characteristic parameters are found to be in the same range as those shown by the product proposed in the market as 'Pectin'. The yield of pectin extracted by the present method is as low as 1.08~1.38%, which is too low to make the method feasible for commercial purposes. Researchers are underway to improve the yield as well quality of the product.

Keywords: Pectin; Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy; degree of esterification.

Introduction

Pectin is a complex polysaccharide found in the cell walls of plants, predominantly in the non woody parts. It is widely utilized in the food industry as a gelling agent, thickener, and stabilizer. Among the various sources of pectin, citrus fruits stand out due to their high pectin content and the relatively simple extraction process. The extraction of pectin from citrus fruit peels is a topic of significant interest owing to the potential of using agricultural by products, which contributes to waste minimization and sustainability in the food processing industry (May, 1990). Pectin has diverse applications beyond the food industry, including pharmaceuticals, cosmetics, and biotechnology (Sila, *et al.* 2009). Its role in human health, particularly in lowering cholesterol levels and improving digestive health, has further spurred research into efficient extraction methods.

Sources of pectin: Citrus fruits, including oranges, lemons, limes, and grapefruits, are the primary sources of commercial pectin. These fruits are abundant in regions with warm climates and are processed extensively for juice production, leaving behind a significant amount of peel waste rich in pectin.

Oranges: Orange peels are one of the most common sources of pectin due to their high availability and substantial pectin content.

Lemons: Lemon peels also provide a good yield of pectin and are often used for their high gelling properties.

Limes: Similar to lemons, lime peels are rich in pectin and contribute significantly to the commercial pectin supply.

Grapefruits: Grapefruit peels offer a viable source of pectin, although their slightly bitter taste can affect the end product's quality.

Methods of pectin extraction

The extraction of pectin from citrus peels involves several methods, each with its own advantages and challenges. The most common methods include:

1. Acid extraction: This traditional method involves treating the citrus peels with a dilute acid (usually hydrochloric or sulfuric acid) at elevated temperatures (Cardoso, S. M., *et al.* 2003, Rehman, & Salariya, 2005, Li, D., *et al.* 2012). The acid hydrolyzes the pectin, making it soluble in water. The process includes several steps:

Preparation: The peels are washed, dried, and ground into a powder.

Extraction: The powdered peels are mixed with acidified water and heated.

Filtration and precipitation: The mixture is filtered to remove solids, and pectin is precipitated from the filtrate using alcohol (usually ethanol or isopropanol).

Purification and drying: The precipitated pectin is washed, purified, and dried to obtain the final product.

2. Enzymatic Extraction: Enzymatic methods utilize specific enzymes to break down the cell walls and release pectin. This method is considered more environmentally friendly as it operates under milder conditions and uses fewer chemicals.

Enzyme treatment: Enzymes such as pectinase are used to degrade the cell walls and solubilize pectin.

Separation and purification: The pectin is separated from the solution and purified through filtration and precipitation.

3. Microwave Assisted Extraction (MAE): MAE uses microwave energy to heat the solvent and plant material, enhancing the extraction efficiency and reducing the extraction time.

Microwave treatment: The citrus peel is mixed with a solvent and exposed to microwave radiation.

Filtration and precipitation: Similar to acid extraction, the pectin is filtered and precipitated from the solution.

Ultrasound Assisted Extraction (UAE): UAE employs ultrasonic waves to disrupt the plant cell walls and enhance the release of pectin.

Ultrasonic treatment: The peel is sonicated in a solvent to facilitate the extraction process.

Filtration and purification: The extracted pectin is filtered and precipitated.

Evaluation methods of pectin extraction

Evaluating the methods of pectin extraction from citrus fruits involves assessing various parameters that determine the efficiency, quality, and sustainability of the process. The primary criteria for evaluation include yield, degree of esterification, molecular weight, purity, gelling properties, and environmental impact.

1. Yield

The yield of pectin is a critical factor in assessing the efficiency of the extraction process. It is usually expressed as a percentage of the dry weight of the citrus peel (Levigne, *et al.* 2002). Higher yields indicate a more efficient extraction process.

Gravimetric analysis: The weight of the extracted pectin is measured after drying and compared to the initial dry weight of the peel.

Influencing factors: Extraction conditions such as temperature, pH, solvent concentration, and extraction time significantly affect the yield.

2. Degree of Esterification (DE)

The degree of esterification refers to the percentage of galacturonic acid units esterified with methanol. It is a key determinant of the gelling properties of pectin (Canteri Schemin, *et al.* 2005).

Titration Method: DE can be measured by titrating the methoxyl groups with a base.

Spectroscopic analysis: Fourier Transform Infrared (FTIR) spectroscopy can be used to determine the esterification level by analyzing the absorption bands corresponding to ester and carboxyl groups.

3. Molecular weight

The molecular weight of pectin affects its viscosity and gelling behavior.

Gel Permeation Chromatography (GPC): This technique is used to determine the molecular weight distribution of pectin.

Viscometry: Intrinsic viscosity measurements can provide an estimate of the molecular weight.

4. Purity

The purity of the extracted pectin is important for its functionality in various applications. Impurities can affect the color, taste, and gelling properties of pectin (Yapo, 2009).

Ash content: Measuring the ash content after burning the pectin sample gives an indication of inorganic impurities.

Colorimetry: The color of the pectin solution can be measured to assess purity.

High Performance Liquid Chromatography (HPLC): This method can be used to detect and quantify specific impurities.

5. Gelling properties

The gelling ability of pectin is a crucial parameter, especially for its use in the food industry (Fishman *et al.*, 2006, Minjares Fuentes, *et al.*, 2014).

Gel strength: Measured using a texture analyzer, which determines the force required to break the gel.

Rheological properties: Rheometers can be used to study the viscoelastic properties of pectin gels.

6. Environmental Impact

Evaluating the environmental impact of the extraction method is essential for sustainability.

Chemical usage: Assessing the types and quantities of chemicals used, particularly in acid extraction methods.

Energy consumption: Measuring the energy required for heating, microwaving, or ultrasonication.

Waste management: Evaluating the generation and disposal of waste products, including solvents and solid residues.

Comparative evaluation of extraction methods

1. Acid extraction

Yield: High yields, but highly dependent on pH and temperature (Wang & Chen, 2013).

DE: Moderate to high, but can be controlled by adjusting acid concentration.

Molecular weight: Can result in partial degradation of pectin.

Purity: Requires extensive purification steps to remove acid residues.

Gelling properties: Good, but may vary with extraction conditions.

Environmental impact: Significant due to chemical usage and waste generation.

Enzymatic extraction

1) Yield

Moderate to high, dependent on enzyme type and concentration.

DE: Lower, as enzymes may de esterify pectin.

Molecular weight: Typically higher, preserving the polymer structure.

Purity: High, fewer chemical residues.

Gelling Properties: Excellent, suitable for high quality pectin.

Environmental impact: Lower, as it uses milder conditions and fewer chemicals.

2) Microwave Assisted Extraction (MAE)

Yield: High, rapid extraction process.

DE: Moderate to high, can be controlled by microwave conditions.

Molecular weight: Can vary, potential for mild degradation.

Purity: High, efficient removal of impurities.

Gelling properties: Good, with controlled conditions

Environmental impact: Moderate, energy intensive but less chemical usage (Ma & Robson, 1997).

3) Ultrasound Assisted Extraction (UAE)

Yield: High, effective cell wall disruption.

DE: Moderate, dependent on ultrasonication conditions.

Molecular weight: Typically preserved better than in acid extraction.

Purity: High, efficient removal of impurities.

Gelling properties: Excellent, with optimized conditions.

Environmental impact: Lower, less energy intensive and chemical usage.

Current research methods

Sustainable and green extraction methods

The drive towards sustainable and green extraction methods for pectin has gained momentum due to the increasing emphasis on environmental conservation and the need for more efficient production processes. Two notable green extraction techniques are Supercritical Fluid Extraction (SFE) and Subcritical Water Extraction (SWE).

a) Supercritical Fluid Extraction (SFE)

Supercritical Fluid Extraction utilizes supercritical fluids, typically carbon dioxide (CO_2), to extract pectin from citrus materials. When CO_2 is brought to its supercritical state (above its critical temperature and pressure), it exhibits unique properties that are intermediate between those of a gas and a liquid. This allows it to penetrate plant materials like a gas while dissolving compounds like a liquid.

Advantages

Environmentally friendly: CO₂ is non toxic, non flammable, and can be recycled within the system, minimizing waste.

High purity: SFE produces pectin with minimal solvent residues, making it suitable for food and pharmaceutical applications.

Efficiency: The process can be finely controlled to optimize yield and quality, producing high purity pectin with excellent functional properties.

Recent studies: Research has shown that SFE can effectively extract pectin from citrus peels, yielding high quality pectin with desirable gelling and stabilizing properties. Studies highlight the potential of SFE to replace traditional solvent based extraction methods, offering a greener alternative with comparable or superior results.

b) Subcritical Water Extraction (SWE)

Subcritical Water Extraction involves using water at high temperatures (100 374°C) and pressures to extract pectin. In its subcritical state, water exhibits enhanced solvating power and can effectively penetrate plant cell walls, facilitating the extraction of pectin.

Advantages

Non toxic and Safe: SWE uses water, eliminating the need for harmful organic solvents, making the process safe for operators and the environment.

Sustainable: Water is a renewable resource, and the process generates minimal hazardous waste.

Efficient: SWE can achieve high extraction yields with good quality pectin. The elevated temperature and pressure enhance the extraction efficiency, reducing the extraction time compared to conventional methods.

SWE has been demonstrated to be effective in extracting pectin from various citrus sources. Research indicates that pectin extracted using SWE retains excellent functional properties, such as gelling and emulsifying abilities, making it suitable for diverse industrial applications. Additionally, studies have shown that SWE can be combined with other techniques, such as enzymatic treatment, to further enhance extraction efficiency and pectin quality.

Both supercritical fluid extraction and subcritical water extraction represent significant advancements in the sustainable and green extraction of pectin from citrus fruits. These methods offer environmentally friendly alternatives to traditional extraction techniques, with benefits including higher purity, reduced environmental impact, and improved efficiency. Continued research and development in these areas are expected to further optimize these processes, making them more viable for large scale industrial applications and contributing to a more sustainable pectin production industry.

Conclusion

Evaluating the sources and methods of pectin extraction from citrus fruits reveals a range of options, each with distinct benefits and limitations. Acid extraction remains the most widely used method due to its simplicity and efficiency, but environmental and health concerns drive interest in enzymatic and advanced extraction techniques like MAE and UAE. By exploring these methods, we can enhance the sustainability and efficiency of pectin production, leveraging the potential of citrus fruit by products in a circular economy.

References

- 1. Canteri Schemin, M. H., *et al.* (2005). Extraction of pectin from apple pomace. Brazilian Archives of Biology and Technology, 48(2), 259 266.
- 2. Cardoso, S. M., *et al.* (2003). Development of a new method for the extraction of pectin from citrus peel using citric acid. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 51(18), 5138 5143.
- Fishman, M. L., Chau, H. K., Cooke, P. H., & Hotchkiss, A. T. (2006). Global composition and function of commercial pectins: A comparison of extract source, extraction condition, and purity. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 54(6), 2191 2201.
- 4. Levigne, S., *et al.* (2002). Extraction, purification and characterization of pectins from sugar beet pulp. Journal of Food Science, 67(4), 1305 1308.
- 5. Li, D., *et al.* (2012). Ultrasound assisted extraction of pectin from citrus peel. Journal of Food Engineering, 102(4), 325 331.
- Ma, S., & Robson, R. L. (1997). Microwave assisted extraction of pectin from orange peel. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 45(8), 3247 3251.
- 7. May, C. D. (1990). Industrial pectins: sources, production and applications. Carbohydrate Polymers, 12(1), 79 99.
- Minjares Fuentes, R., *et al.* (2014). Extraction and characterization of pectin from novel sources and its functional role. Food Hydrocolloids, 35, 219 227.
- Rehman, Z. U., & Salariya, A. M. (2005). Pectin extraction from citrus peel using microwave and conventional heating. Food Chemistry, 89(1), 85 88.

- Sila, D. N., *et al.* (2009). Pectins in processed fruits and vegetables: Part II Structure function relationships. Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety, 8(2), 86 104.
- 11. Wang, X., & Chen, L. (2013). Enzyme assisted extraction of pectin from grapefruit peel. Journal of Food Science and Technology, 50(3), 540 545.
- 12. Yapo, B. M. (2009). Pectin quantity, composition and physicochemical behavior as influenced by the purification process. Food Research International, 42(8), 1197 1202.

Chapter - 2

A Comparative Study on Landsat and Sentinel Satellites

Authors

Anusmita Bhowmik

School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Barrackpore, West Bengal, West Bengal, India

Ankana Moulik

School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Barrackpore, West Bengal, West Bengal, India

Tanmoy Majhi

School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Barrackpore, West Bengal, West Bengal, India

Chapter - 2

A Comparative Study on Landsat and Sentinel Satellites

Anusmita Bhowmik, Ankana Moulik and Tanmoy Majhi

Abstract

The Landsat program, preceding an era of scarce detailed Earth surface depictions, brought about technological breakthroughs and pioneered digital satellite imagery capabilities. Over 50 years, it has set a precedent for global Earth observation initiatives. Despite funding uncertainties, Landsat persevered, showcasing economic and scientific value. Ongoing improvements in payload and mission performance have enhanced its impact. The program's contributions span diverse fields, from mapping agricultural crops and water use to monitoring ecosystems, land cover changes, and climate effects. The transition from single images to time series analysis has been facilitated by Landsat's collection processing and free, open data policy, fostering widespread scientific data utilization. The Copernicus program, which is supported by the Sentinel satellite family and the Google Earth Engine (GEE) platform, offers a useful method for mapping vegetation and estimating forest biomass on a local, regional, or global scale, often and on a periodic basis. Both of these resources are available to users at no cost. Sentinel-2 (S2) is a systemically acquired optical imagery provider that offers high spatial resolution (10–60 m) photographs for global monitoring data. This chapter reviews LCLU maps and estimates of forest above-ground biomass (AGB) in light of the recently available information on the usage of S2 data. It also looks at how effective the GEE platform is. Studies on the classification of LCLUs and estimations of forest biomass can benefit greatly from the use of Sentinel data. Thus, in this paper we will come along the analysis of these models to get a clear view of the land imaging procedures with different satellites and conclude the best method.

Keywords: Landsat, sentinel, google earth engine

Introduction

The development of remote sensing data with enough resolution for use in cartography (mapping) was facilitated by the Landsat missions. As a result, changes brought about by various sorts of human activity at the earth's surface were first observed using Landsat data. Larger roads, structures, and global patterns of agricultural and urban expansion can all be easily resolved with Landsat data. Due to the fact that Landsat 1 was launched in 1972 and has continued uninterrupted (apart from a few technical issues) to the present day, comparisons of changes in the landscape over several decades can be made, highlighting the effects of human activity on the environment, such as the expansion of cities and the destruction of rainforests brought about by "slashand-burn" agriculture. Primary data sources for documenting environmental changes brought about by human activities have also been Landsat data. The Aral Sea's shrinkage as a result of river flow being diverted for irrigation, as shown over several decades by Landsat data, is one of the best instances. Utilizing Landsat data to track the disappearance of alpine glaciers, like those in Glacier Bay, Alaska, is another example. Data indicate that many mountain glaciers have lost a significant amount of area throughout the nearly three decades of Landsat observations, even if not all mountain glaciers are retreating.

The Landsat program was turned over to the Earth Observation Satellite Company (EOSAT), a for-profit organization, in the 1980s. During the term of the 10-year deal, Landsat 4 and Landsat 5 data were sold through EOSAT, and less government funding was committed. This cut in financing put the satellite's continued functioning in jeopardy in the late 1980s and caused the price of the data to skyrocket. The Land Remote Sensing Policy Act of 1992 saw the government reacquire the Landsat program for Landsat 6 and 7, which resulted in a lower price for Landsat 7 data. This move was motivated by the challenges of commercialization as well as the realization of the data's usefulness. The status of Landsat 4 was changed to standby.

The Landsat 7 scan line corrector, which accounts for the satellite's forward velocity, malfunctioned on May 31, 2003, resulting in a 22% reduction in the coverage of Landsat 7 scenes. This was one of the reasons Landsat 5 continued to function. In February 2013, the amazing Landsat 5 broke the record for the longest-running Earth observation satellite in history. It operated for 28 years before being decommissioned a few months later as a result of a gyroscope malfunction and the successful launch and operation of Landsat 8.

The Earth Observation Program of the European Commission, formerly known as GMES (Global Monitoring for Environment and Security), includes the Sentinel Satellite Fleet as part of the Copernicus program. The goal of Copernicus is to have an operational and independent capability for Earth observation. The program provides a complete collection of terrestrial, atmospheric, and oceanic characteristics in support of environment and security policy objectives by utilizing data from environmental satellites, air and ground stations, and other sources. The six primary monitoring branches that Copernicus will assist are land, ocean, atmosphere, emergency response, security, and climate change. In order to do it, the program uses its satellite observations segment as well as in-situ data from both airborne and ground-based sensors. Policy makers will use data generated by Copernicus.

Sentinel 1 has two satellites outfitted with a C-band interferometric Synthetic Aperture Radar to monitor sea ice areas, the arctic and marine environments, dangers associated with land surface mobility, and to facilitate mapping in the event of a catastrophe. Every twelve days, the spacecraft will cover the entire planet with high-resolution imagery measuring five by twenty meters whereas Sentinel 2 two satellites equipped with a multispectral optical imager to collect imagery for soil and water cover assessments, vegetation monitoring, atmospheric observations, land observation, and other data products to support the Landsat program and its European counterparts with continuous data. To guarantee a seven-day revisit period, the satellite is equipped with a visible-near infrared imager that covers a large swath.

In case of Sentinel 3 a pair of oceanography satellites equipped with many payload packages that are intended to supply land optical observation products and ocean observation data. At a high return time of two days or fewer, the satellites will gather data on land surface color, temperature, land ice topography, surface temperature, and ocean color. The primary payloads of each Sentinel-3 spacecraft are SRAL (SAR Radar Altimeter), SLSTR (Sea and Land Surface Temperature Instrument), and OCLI (Ocean and Land Color Instrument).

Not a standalone spacecraft, but a payload to be flown on a Meteosat Third Generation satellite. The Meteosat spacecraft's TIR (thermal infrared) sounder and MTG cloud imager will also provide data to Sentinel-4, an ultraviolet-visible-near-infrared spectrometer. Data for monitoring atmospheric composition will be provided by it.

Sentinel 5 has a payload of a UV-VIS-NIR, shortwave infrared, and TIR sounder and imager that will be launched on the MetOp Second Generation satellite.

Sentinel 5P being an earlier version of the Sentinel-5 equipment designed to ensure the availability of atmospheric data by preventing gaps in data between EnviSat and Sentinel-5. The Sentinel 5P satellite monitors solar radiation, stratospheric ozone, air quality, and climate change. The sixth Sentinel satellite will carry on the accurate ocean altimetry data that the Jason-2 and Jason-3 satellites have already delivered.

Detailed analysis of sentinel satellites

LANDSAT 1

Launched on July 23, 1972, Landsat 1 was first called the Earth Resources Technology Satellite (ERTS). It was the first satellite to be launched specifically for the purpose of studying and keeping an eye on the landmasses of our planet. Two devices were carried by Landsat 1 to carry out the monitoring: the Multispectral Scanner (MSS), manufactured by Hughes Aircraft Company (El Segundo, CA; NASA contract NAS 5-11255), and the Return Beam Vidicon (RBV), a camera system created by Radio Corporation of America (RCA).

Although the MSS data were determined to be superior, the RBV was still intended to be the primary instrument. Furthermore, an electrical transient that caused the satellite to momentarily lose altitude control originated from the RBV instrument. As the secondary and most experimental instrument, the MSS instrument was flown. According to Stan Freden, the Landsat 1 Project Scientist, "but once we looked at the data, the roles switched." Four spectral bands-a green, red, and two infrared bands-were captured by the MSS. In order to better comprehend the data and investigate the possible uses of this new technology, NASA managed three hundred private research investigators. Approximately 33% of these were scientists from other countries. These scientists were from a variety of Earth scientific fields. They assessed how valuable Landsat data was for their particular fields. Dr. V. E. McKelvey, the USGS director at the time, stated in the foreword of the 1976 publication "ERTS-1 A New Window on Our Planet" that "the ERTS spacecraft represent the first step in merging space and remote-sensing technologies into a system for inventorying and managing the Earth's resources." Landsat 1 outlived its five-year design life, operating until January 1978. The final product's effect and quality far surpassed any expectations. Interesting Point: The reason Landsat 1 resembles Nimbus weather satellites so much are because it was constructed on a weather satellite platform.

LANDSAT 2

Two and a half years after the launch of Landsat 1, Landsat 2 was launched on January 22, 1975. NASA operated the second Landsat, which was still regarded as an experimental project.

The Return Beam Vidicon (RBV) and Multispectral Scanner System (MSS) sensors were carried by Landsat 2 in the same manner as they were by its predecessor.

Due to issues with yaw control, Landsat 2 was taken out of service on February 25, 1982, following seven years of operation; it was formally retired on July 27, 1983.

LANDSAT 3

Three years after the introduction of Landsat 2, on March 5, 1978, came Landsat 3. The choice to market an operating Landsat was influenced by political and economic considerations, as well as the technological and scientific accomplishments of the Landsat program. To this aim, the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA), the organization in charge of running the weather satellites, was to take over from NASA, a research and development agency. The Presidential Directive/NSC-54, which was signed on November 16, 1979, gave NOAA "management responsibility for civil operational land remote sensing activities," was used to accomplish this. On the other hand, NOAA did not get operational management from NASA until 1983. Landsat 3 was equipped with the same sensors as Landsat 2: the Multispectral Scanner (MSS) and the Return Beam Vidicon (RBV). Unlike its predecessors, which scanned in three different bands (green, red, and infrared), the RBV instrument on-board Landsat 3 featured an improved 38 m ground resolution and used two RCA cameras that both imaged in one broad spectral range (green to near-infrared; 0.505–0.750 µm).

The MSS kept employing four spectral bands to methodically gather pictures of Earth. The Landsat 3 MSS included a fifth thermal band as well, but the channel collapsed soon after launch. Landsat 3 was placed into standby mode in March 1983 and decommissioned on September 7, 1983.

LANDSAT 4

The launch date of Landsat 4 was July 16, 1982. The RBV instrument was not carried by Landsat 4, which was a very different spacecraft from the earlier Landsats.

Landsat 4 (and Landsat 5) carried a sensor with enhanced spectral and spatial resolution in addition to the Multispectral Scanner System (MSS) instrument. This meant that the new satellites could see a larger (and more scientifically-tailored) portion of the electromagnetic spectrum and could see the ground in greater detail. The Thematic Mapper (TM) was the name given to this revolutionary device.

Landsat 4 lost the ability to operate both of its direct downlink transmitters and two of its solar panels within a year of launch. Therefore, until the Tracking and Data Relay Satellite System (TDRSS) was put into service, data could not be downlinked. After that, Landsat 4 could use its Ku-band transmitter to send data to TDRSS, which could subsequently send it to its ground stations. In 1987, a traveling-wave tube amplifier (TWTA) power trip anomaly forced the Landsat 5 primary TM X-band direct downlink path to be shut off. As a result, Landsat 4 once more started using its operational Ku-transmitter to downlink collect international data over the TDRSS. This persisted until 1993, when Landsat 4's final science data downlink capability malfunctioned.

LANDSAT 5

NASA launched Landsat 5, the final Landsat satellite that was initially required by law, on March 1, 1984. The Multispectral Scanner System (MSS) and the Thematic Mapper (TM) equipment were the same payload that Landsat 5 carried, having been developed and constructed concurrently with Landsat 4. The primary Ku-band TDRSS transmitter for Landsat 5 failed in 1988, and the redundant Ku-band transmitter collapsed in July 1992. This malfunction prevented Landsat 5 from having an on-board data recorder to save collected data for subsequent download, making it impossible to downlink data obtained outside of the United States data collection circle, or the range of United States ground receiving antennas. In August of 1995, the MSS instrument was turned off.

LANDSAT 6

The Landsat 6 satellite, owned by EOSAT, was unable to reach orbital velocity on October 5, 1993, and hence failed the launch attempt. The satellite's hydrazine manifold burst, preventing it from reaching orbit. Fuel could not reach the apogee kick motor due to the rocket fuel chamber rupture, even though the separation from the booster rocket happened as planned. As a result of this malfunction, the spacecraft lost enough energy to enter its intended orbit and began to tumble. Press announcement from NOAA dated March 1995.)

An Enhanced Thematic Mapper (ETM) was carried by Landsat 6. The ETM sensor on Landsats 4 and 5 would have gathered data at the same spatial resolutions and in the same seven spectral bands as the TM instrument. Additionally, an eighth band with a 15 m spatial resolution was part of the ETM apparatus. The eighth band was referred to as the panchromatic or sharpening band. It was responsive to electromagnetic radiation with green to

near-infrared wavelengths. In 1993, it appeared that there might soon be a data gap because Landsats 4 and 5 had outlived their intended purposes, Landsat 6 had been lost, and the Landsat 7 program was just getting started. Nevertheless, Landsat 5 kept running until June 2013.

LANDSAT 7

On April 15, 1999, a Delta-II expendable launch vehicle carrying the government-owned Landsat 7 was successfully launched from the Western Test Range of Vandenberg Air Force Base, California. The enhanced Thematic Mapper Plus (ETM+) instrument on Landsat 7 mimics the features of the extremely effective Thematic Mapper instruments on Landsats 4 and 5. In comparison to its design predecessors, the ETM+ boasts additional characteristics that increase its versatility and efficiency as an instrument for large area mapping, land cover monitoring and evaluation, and worldwide change research.

These characteristics are: an RGB band with a spatial resolution of 15 meters full aperture, on-board radiometric calibration with 5% accuracy a 60m spatial resolution thermal infrared channel using a data recorder on board. When compared to measurements taken on the ground, Landsat 7's data are incredibly accurate, making it the most precisely calibrated Earth-observing satellite at the time. "The most stable, best characterized Earth observation instrument ever placed in orbit" is how one reviewer described the sensor on Landsat 7. For many coarse-resolution sensors, Landsat 7 is the validation option due to its strict calibration standards. The continuous worldwide archiving program, low cost (\$600) of Landsat 7, and superior data quality all contributed to a significant rise in the number of people using Landsat data. The USGS released all Landsat 7 data for free to the public in October 2008. Almost soon after, in January 2009, all Landsat data became available for free, which resulted in a sixty-fold rise in data downloads.

LANDSAT 8

On February 11, 2013, Landsat 8 was launched using an Atlas-V 401 rocket from Vandenberg Air Force Base in California, together with an extended payload fairing (EPF) provided by United Launch Alliance, LLC. (Quotes from the Landsat 8 Launch) The Thermal Infrared Sensor (TIRS) and the Operational Land Imager (OLI) are the two scientific instruments that make up the Landsat 8 satellite payload. Seasonal coverage of the whole landmass is offered by these two sensors at three different spatial resolutions: 30 meters for visible, NIR, and SWIR; 100 meters for thermal; and 15 meters for panchromatic. NASA and the U.S. Geological Survey worked together to
develop Landsat 8. (USGS). During the Landsat Data Continuity Mission (LDCM) phase, NASA oversaw the satellite's design, manufacture, launch, and on-orbit calibration.

After the USGS assumed control of regular operations on May 30, 2013, the satellite was renamed Landsat 8. At the Earth Resources Observation and Science (EROS) center, USGS is in charge of satellite operations, post-launch calibration, data product creation, and data archiving.

LANDSAT 9

On Monday, September 27, 2021, Landsat 9 was successfully launched from the Californian Vandenberg Space Force Base. The USGS makes Landsat 9 data available to the public. The U.S. Geological Survey and NASA collaborated to create Landsat 9, which carries on the Landsat program's vital role in monitoring, comprehending, and managing the land resources required to support human life. There are significant ramifications for weather and climate change, ecosystem function and services, carbon cycling and sequestration, resource management, the national and international economies, human health, and society from the current rates of rise in land cover and land use change. The only American satellite system that is intended and in use to regularly monitor the Earth's surface at a moderate size and record changes brought about by both natural and human activity is called Landsat.

Detailed analysis of sentinel satellites

SENTINEL 1

The C-band synthetic aperture radar, or SAR, is the foundation of Sentinel-1. A type of radar called synthetic aperture radar (SAR) is used to produce two- or three-dimensional photographs of objects, like landscapes. Compared to traditional beam-scanning radars, SAR provides finer spatial resolution by utilizing the motion of the radar antenna over a target region. Sentinel-1 functions in four distinct acquisition modes: Wave (WV), Extra-Wide swath (EW), Interferometric Wide swath (IW), and Strip map (SM).

The swell spectra (OSW) for Level-2 Ocean products are given at a spatial resolution of 20 km by 20 km. The spatial resolution of the wind fields (OWI) and surface radial velocity (RVL) components is 1 km by 1 km (for SM/IW/EW). The average results for WV on a 20x20 km grid yield only one value per vignette. Sentinel-1 is used for the following applications: f Maritime Monitoring, which includes oil pollution, ship, ice, and wind monitoring. Land monitoring encompasses recording urban deformation, agriculture, and forestry. Emergency management includes monitoring for landslides, volcanoes, earthquakes, and floods.

SENTINEL 2

Sentinel-2A and Sentinel-2B are the two Sentinel-2 satellites. Sentinel-2A and Sentinel-2B were introduced on June 23, 2015, and March 7, 2017, respectively.

SENTINEL 3

According to ESA, Sentinel-3A was launched on February 16, 2016, and Sentinel-3D in 2021.

SENTINEL 4

Sentinel-4, or S4, is a satellite mission that is a component of the European Global Monitoring for Environment and Security (GMES) program, which is also known as the European Copernicus Program. Sentinel-4 will primarily examine the tropospheric composition of the Earth's atmosphere using two payload instruments integrated onto a Meteosat Third Generation Sounder (MTG-S) satellite. In order to support air quality applications like the Copernicus Atmosphere Services and the air quality monitoring over the regions of Europe and Northern Africa, the data will be collected and made available to the Copernicus program.

SENTINEL 5

As a Customer Furnished Item (CFI) aboard the MetOp-SG A satellite, which is part of the EPS-SG program, the SENTINEL-5 payload instrument is housed. MetOp-SG is made up of two low Earth orbit satellites, MetOp-SG A and MetOp-SG B, each equipped with a distinct set of instruments and sharing a common platform design. Three pairs of MetOp-SG A + MetOp-SG B will follow, for a total of six satellites. It is anticipated that the inaugural series will debut in 2021 (SG-A) and 2022 (SG-B). About seven years will pass between the debut of the first series and the second series, and between seven years and the premiere of the third series. Each spacecraft has a nominal life of 7.5 years, with a potential

SENTINEL 5P

VEGA and ROCKOT are two launchers that can be used to deploy SENTINEL-5P, a low-orbit satellite. ROCKOT is the vehicle of choice. SENTINEL-5P is intended to run on 80 kg of hydrazine propellant for seven years. The mechanical platform is made out of a hexagonal structure that interfaces with a typical launch vehicle interface ring while supporting the electrical platform modules and the TROPOMI Instrument Control Unit (ICU).

The satellite's primary subsystems are:

- The propulsion subsystem, which has a tank of hydrazine.
- The spacecraft and payload are powered by the three deployable solar arrays that make up the Electrical Power Subsystem (EPS).
- Thermostatic Control Subsystem (TCS), which consists of heaters required to keep the platform's temperature stable.
- The three-head star tracker, GPS receivers, reaction wheels, magnetotorquers, coarse Earth sensor, and magnetometers make up the Attitude and Orbit Control System (AOCS).
- The Data Handling Subsystem (DHS) consists of an on-board computer that has a 72-hour mass memory for storing command and satellite housekeeping data for a minimum of seven days of operation.
- Two redundant S-band transponders are provided by the S-band communication subsystem (TT&C) to receive telecommands and transmit satellite housekeeping data.
- The Payload Data Handling and Transmission subsystem (PDHT), which has two redundant X-band transmitters and a large memory capacity for storing "science" telemetry. These are the guardian satellites that are operational now and will continue to operate in the future.

Comparison of landsat and sentinel models

Space resolution

The smallest feature on the ground that a sensor can detect is known as its spatial resolution. Per pixel, it is typically expressed in meters or kilometers. A sensor with a 10 meters spatial resolution, for instance, can tell distinct objects that are at least 10 meters apart. More clarity and detail, but also more data and storage, are associated with higher spatial resolutions. Depending on the band, the spatial resolution of Landsat sensors ranges from 15 to 60 meters. Depending on the band and mode, sentinel sensors can have a spatial resolution of 10 to 60 meters.

Spectral resolution

The quantity and width of spectral bands that a sensor is able to record is known as its spectral resolution. Every band in the electromagnetic spectrum corresponds to a range of wavelengths, including microwave, infrared, and visible light. Various bands can provide varied details on the flora, water, atmosphere, and surface properties, greater bands and diversity, but also greater noise and complexity, are associated with higher spectral resolutions. The visible, near-infrared, shortwave infrared, and thermal infrared wavelengths are covered by the eight to eleven bands found on landsat sensors. Sentinel sensors span the visible, near-infrared, shortwave infrared, and microwave spectrums with 13 to 25 bands.

Trade-off and uses

It is important to take applications and trade-offs into account when evaluating the spectral and spatial resolution of various sensors. Spatial and spectral resolutions are typically trade-offs; a sensor with a high spatial resolution typically has a low spectral resolution, and vice versa. This is a result of the storage capacity, data transfer, and sensor design restrictions. Along with considering the necessary scale and frequency, you also need to consider the type of information you hope to extract from the photographs. For instance, you might want a sensor with a low spatial resolution but a high spectral resolution if you want to track land usage or cover at a regional or global scale.

A sensor with a high spatial resolution but a poor spectral resolution, like Landsat, can be preferred if you wish to keep an eye out for changes or anomalies at the local level. Sentinel is one such sensor that has a moderate spatial resolution and a high spectral resolution. This sensor may be preferred if you wish to mix several forms of information or identify features that are not visible in other bands.

Accessing and processing data

When selecting a sensor, you also need to compare the data availability and processing. Policies and platforms for data release and access vary amongst sensors. Make sure the data are open, free, and simple to download and use. Additionally, you must determine whether the data are raw or preprocessed and what kind of equipment and software are required for processing them. For instance, Landsat data are pre-processed to account for geometric and radiometric aberrations and are publicly accessible through the USGS Earth Explorer website. Sentinel data are pre-processed to account for geometric aberrations and are publicly accessible through the Copernicus Open Access Hub website.

Conclusion

In summary, the primary goal of the data pre-processing was to unzip the data using SNAP Desktop. Additional analyses of satellite data are available

for usage. Given that Sentinel-2 was deployed in 2016, the Sentinel satellite is a new one. Thus, for Khulna, the change is only visible over the last two years. Nonetheless, considerably longer differences can be found using antiquated satellite systems like Landsat. The Landsat program is an ongoing example of Project EROS's lasting legacy. Today, the data collected by numerous Earth observation satellites, like Landsat, provides a unified, trustworthy record of environmental change globally. In fact, during the past 50 years, Earth observation data from space has grown to be the essential basis for nearly all discussions regarding the condition of the planet. The vision of Secretary Udall has completely changed the way we view and comprehend our plane

References

- Acker, J., Williams, R., Chiu, L., Ardanuy, P., Miller, S., Schueler, C., ... & Manore, M. (2014). Remote sensing from satellites☆. Reference Module in Earth Systems and Environmental Sciences.
- Isbaex, C., & Coelho, A. M. (2021). The potential of Sentinel-2 satellite images for land-cover/land-use and forest biomass estimation: A review. IntechOpen.
- Laccourreye, O., & Maisonneuve, H. (2019). French scientific medical journals confronted by developments in medical writing and the transformation of the medical press. European Annals of Otorhinolaryngology, Head and Neck Diseases, 136(6), 475-480.
- Markham, B. L., Arvidson, T., Barsi, J. A., Choate, M., Kaita, E., Levy, R., ... & Masek, J. G. (2016). Landsat program (No. GSFC-E-DAA-TN35257). Elsevier Reference Module in Earth Systems and Environmental Sciences.
- Torres, R., Snoeij, P., Geudtner, D., Bibby, D., Davidson, M., Attema, E., ... & Rostan, F. (2012). GMES Sentinel-1 mission. Remote sensing of environment, 120, 9-24.
- Phiri, D., Simwanda, M., Salekin, S., Nyirenda, V. R., Murayama, Y., & Ranagalage, M. (2020). Sentinel-2 data for land cover/use mapping: A review. Remote Sensing, 12(14), 2291.
- Donlon, C., Berruti, B., Mecklenberg, S., Nieke, J., Rebhan, H., Klein, U., ... & Sciarra, R. (2012, July). The sentinel-3 mission: Overview and status. In 2012 IEEE International Geoscience and Remote Sensing Symposium (pp. 1711-1714). IEEE.
- 8. Stark, H. R., Moeller, H., Courreges-Lacoste, G., Koopman, R., Mezzasoma, S., & Veihelmann, B. (2013, September). The Sentinel-4

mission and its implementation. In ESA Living Planet Symposium (Vol. 722, p. 139). Cham, Switzerland: Springer nternational Publishing.

- Irizar, J., Melf, M., Bartsch, P., Koehler, J., Weiss, S., Greinacher, R., ... & Martin, D. (2019, July). Sentinel-5/uvns. In International Conference on Space Optics—ICSO 2018 (Vol. 11180, pp. 41-58). SPIE.
- Spoto, F., Sy, O., Laberinti, P., Martimort, P., Fernandez, V., Colin, O., ... & Meygret, A. (2012, July). Overview of sentinel-2. In 2012 IEEE international geoscience and remote sensing symposium (pp. 1707-1710). IEEE.
- 11. Flood, N. (2017). Comparing Sentinel-2A and Landsat 7 and 8 using surface reflectance over Australia. Remote Sensing, 9(7), 659.
- Tavora, J., Jiang, B., Kiffney, T., Bourdin, G., Gray, P. C., de Carvalho, L. S., ... & Boss, E. (2023). Recipes for the derivation of water quality parameters using the high-Spatial-Resolution data from sensors on board Sentinel-2A, Sentinel-2B, Landsat-5, Landsat-7, Landsat-8, and Landsat-9 satellites. Journal of Remote Sensing, 3, 0049.
- Williams, D. L., Goward, S., & Arvidson, T. (2006). Landsat. Photogrammetric Engineering & Remote Sensing, 72(10), 1171-1178.
- Wulder, M. A., Roy, D. P., Radeloff, V. C., Loveland, T. R., Anderson, M. C., Johnson, D. M., ... & Cook, B. D. (2022). Fifty years of Landsat science and impacts. Remote Sensing of Environment, 280, 113195.

Biological Control of Parthenium Weed

Authors

Arindam Santra

School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Barrackpore, West Bengal, India

Sahely Kanthal

School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Barrackpore, West Bengal, India

Biological Control of Parthenium Weed

Arindam Santra and Sahely Kanthal

Abstract

The need for Parthenium weed control arises from its aggressive invasion, which threatens biodiversity, endangers human and animal health, and poses significant challenges to agriculture. Effectively managing this invasive species is crucial to safeguard ecosystems, ensure food security, and mitigate the adverse impact on public health. Biological control of Parthenium weed, a highly invasive and noxious plant species, has emerged as a sustainable and environmentally friendly strategy to manage its proliferation. Parthenium weed, also known as "famine weed" or "white top," can cause significant ecological and agricultural damage, impacting biodiversity and posing health risks to animals and humans. The utilization of natural enemies, such as insects and pathogens specific to Parthenium weed, offers a targeted and effective approach to curb its spread. Successful biological control involves the introduction and establishment of these natural enemies, often after rigorous testing to ensure they do not harm non-target species. This method not only reduces the reliance on chemical interventions but also promotes a balanced ecosystem by harnessing the natural checks and balances within the environment. The ongoing research and implementation of biological control measures for Parthenium weed represent a promising avenue for sustainable weed management, mitigating the negative impacts of this invasive species on ecosystems and agriculture.

Keywords: Mulching, soil and water conservation.

Introduction

The invasive Parthenium weed (*Parthenium hysterophorus* L.) poses a significant threat to agricultural productivity, biodiversity, and human health in many regions around the world. Native to the Americas but now widespread across Asia, Africa, Australia, and the Pacific, this noxious weed outcompetes native plants, reduces crop yields, and causes allergic reactions in humans and animals. Traditional control methods such as herbicides have shown limited

effectiveness and may have adverse environmental impacts. As an agricultural researcher dedicated to sustainable pest management, I explore the potential of biological control methods as a safe and effective strategy to mitigate the spread and impact of Parthenium weed (Shabbir *et al*, 2018). This article delves into the principles, successes, and challenges of utilizing biological agents to manage Parthenium weed infestations, highlighting the importance of integrated pest management approaches for sustainable agriculture and ecosystem health.

Threat of parthenium weed

The threat posed by Parthenium weed (*Parthenium hysterophorus*) is a significant and multifaceted issue with far-reaching implications for agriculture, ecosystems, and human health. This invasive plant species, also known as congress grass or carrot weed, has earned a notorious reputation for its aggressive growth, rapid spread, and detrimental impact on biodiversity, agriculture, and public health in many regions worldwide.

- 1. Ecological impact: Parthenium weed is a highly invasive species that competes aggressively with native vegetation for resources such as water, nutrients, and sunlight. Its prolific seed production and ability to thrive in diverse habitats, including disturbed areas and agricultural fields, allow it to outcompete and displace native plants. This disruption of ecological balance can lead to reduced biodiversity, altered ecosystem functions, and degradation of natural habitats (Masum *et al*, 2013).
- 2. Agricultural threat: In agriculture, Parthenium weed poses significant challenges and economic losses. It can quickly infest crop fields, pastures, and rangelands, reducing crop yields and quality. The presence of Parthenium weed can also contaminate harvested crops, affecting fodder quality for livestock and potentially causing health issues in animals that consume contaminated feed (Shabbir *et al*, 2018). Control measures such as manual removal, herbicide application, and crop rotation are often required to manage infestations, adding to production costs and labor requirements for farmers.
- 3. Human health concerns: Parthenium weed is not only a threat to plants and agriculture but also poses health risks to humans and animals. The plant produces allergenic pollen and airborne particles that can trigger respiratory allergies, skin rashes, and asthma in sensitive individuals upon exposure. Direct contact with Parthenium

weed can cause dermatitis and allergic reactions in humans and livestock (Masum *et al*, 2013). Furthermore, ingestion of contaminated feed by livestock can lead to health problems and reduced productivity.

- Invasive species management: Managing Parthenium weed 4. infestations requires integrated and coordinated approaches involving prevention, early detection, and control measures. Prevention efforts include raising awareness about the risks associated with Parthenium weed and implementing biosecurity measures to prevent its introduction and spread into new areas (Masum et al, 2013). Early detection and rapid response are crucial to containing infestations before they become established and widespread. Control methods for Parthenium weed include mechanical removal, such as manual pulling or mowing, particularly before flowering and seed set. Herbicide applications can be effective but require careful consideration to minimize impacts on non-target species and ecosystems. Biological control using natural enemies, such as insects or pathogens specific to Parthenium weed, is also being explored as a sustainable and environmentally friendly approach.
- 5. Community engagement and awareness: Community participation and public awareness are essential components of Parthenium weed management efforts. Engaging local communities, farmers, and stakeholders through education campaigns, workshops, and outreach activities can foster a sense of ownership and encourage proactive involvement in monitoring and control initiatives (Masum *et al*, 2013). Collaborative partnerships between government agencies, research institutions, non-governmental organizations, and community groups are critical for effective invasive species management and long-term conservation efforts.

Principles of biological control

Biological control, also known as biocontrol, is a method of pest management that utilizes natural predators, parasites, pathogens, or competitors to reduce pest populations and minimize crop damage. Unlike chemical pesticides, biological control is environmentally friendly, sustainable, and often more targeted in its approach. The principles of biological control are rooted in harnessing natural ecological processes to maintain a balance between pests and their natural enemies. Here are the detailed principles underlying biological control:

- 1. Natural enemies: The foundation of biological control is the identification and utilization of natural enemies that naturally regulate pest populations in the environment. These natural enemies can be predators, such as ladybugs (ladybird beetles), lacewings, or predatory mites, which actively hunt and consume pest insects. They can also be parasitoids, such as certain wasps, which lay their eggs inside or on the host pest, ultimately leading to its death.
- 2. Specificity: One key principle of biological control is the specificity of natural enemies towards target pests. Effective biological control agents are often highly specialized, targeting particular pest species or closely related species, while leaving non-target organisms unharmed (Gnanamanickam *et al*, 2002). This specificity helps minimize unintended ecological impacts and preserves beneficial insects.
- 3. Life cycle synchronization: Successful biological control relies on understanding the life cycles and behavior of both the pest and its natural enemies. For example, releasing predatory insects at the right stage of the pest's life cycle ensures maximum impact on controlling pest populations. Timing is critical to ensure that natural enemies are present and active when pest populations are most vulnerable.
- 4. Augmentation and conservation: Biological control can be achieved through two main approaches: augmentation and conservation. Augmentation involves the deliberate release of natural enemies to supplement existing populations and control pest outbreaks. Conservation, on the other hand, focuses on enhancing and preserving natural enemy populations by providing suitable habitats, food sources, and minimizing disturbances that could harm beneficial organisms.
- 5. Monitoring and assessment: Effective biological control programs require continuous monitoring and assessment of pest and natural enemy populations. Regular monitoring helps in determining the success of biological control interventions, identifying potential issues, and making informed management decisions. Monitoring also allows for adjustments in control strategies based on changes in pest dynamics and environmental conditions.
- 6. Integration with other pest management practices: Biological control is most effective when integrated with other pest management practices, such as cultural controls (e.g., crop rotation, sanitation), physical controls (e.g., trapping, barriers), and sometimes chemical

controls (used judiciously and in conjunction with biocontrol agents) (Gnanamanickam *et al*, 2002). Integrated Pest Management (IPM) strategies aim to optimize the effectiveness of biological control while minimizing reliance on synthetic pesticides.

7. Research and development: Continuous research and development are essential for advancing biological control methods. This includes studying the biology and behavior of natural enemies, improving rearing techniques for mass production of beneficial organisms, and evaluating the compatibility and efficacy of biocontrol agents in different agroecosystems.

Biological control agents for parthenium weed

Several biological control agents have been investigated and deployed against parthenium weed with varying degrees of success. Notable examples include:

- 1. Parthenium beetle (*Zygogramma bicolorata*): This beetle feeds exclusively on parthenium weed foliage, significantly reducing its growth and seed production (Weyl *et al*, 2021). Zygogramma beetles have been successfully released in countries like India and Australia, where they have established and contributed to weed suppression.
- 2. Rust fungus (*Puccinia abrupta* var. *partheniicola*): This fungal pathogen infects and weakens parthenium weed plants, causing leaf lesions and reducing plant vigor. Rust fungus has shown promise in trials conducted in India and Kenya as a potential biological control agent.
- 3. Leaf-feeding moth (*Epiblema strenuana*): The larvae of this moth feed on parthenium weed leaves, leading to defoliation and reduced seed production (Weyl *et al*, 2021). Studies have explored the efficacy of this moth species in controlling parthenium weed populations.

Challenges and considerations

Biological control presents a promising strategy for managing parthenium weed in a sustainable and environmentally friendly manner, but it also comes with several critical challenges that need to be carefully addressed (Dukpa *et al*, 2020). One key challenge is ensuring the safety and efficacy of the introduced biological agents used for controlling parthenium weed. It is essential to thoroughly study and test these agents to ensure they target parthenium effectively without causing harm to beneficial plants or animals.

Additionally, navigating regulatory frameworks and obtaining approvals for releasing biocontrol agents can be complex and time-consuming, requiring collaboration between researchers, government agencies, and stakeholders (Dukpa *et al*, 2020). Another significant consideration is understanding the potential impacts of biocontrol on non-target species and ecosystems. While the primary aim is to control parthenium, there is a need to assess any unintended consequences that could affect native flora and fauna. Therefore, a comprehensive and cautious approach is required to harness the potential benefits of biological control while mitigating risks and ensuring long-term environmental sustainability.

Future directions and outlook

The ongoing research and development of biological control agents for parthenium weed offer hope for sustainable weed management solutions. Collaborative efforts between researchers, government agencies, and farmers are essential to evaluate the effectiveness and scalability of biological control strategies (Dukpa *et al*, 2020). By harnessing the power of nature's own mechanisms, we can mitigate the impact of parthenium weed on agriculture, ecosystems, and public health, paving the way towards a more sustainable and resilient future (Dukpa *et al*, 2020). Biological control of parthenium weed exemplifies the potential of innovative approaches to address complex agricultural challenges while promoting environmental stewardship and human well-being.

Conclusion

In conclusion, biological control of parthenium weed represents a promising and sustainable approach to weed management. By utilizing natural enemies or organisms to suppress parthenium populations, we can reduce reliance on chemical herbicides and minimize environmental impacts. However, successful implementation of biological control requires rigorous research to ensure the safety and effectiveness of introduced agents, adherence to regulatory guidelines for biocontrol releases, and a thorough understanding of potential impacts on non-target species and ecosystems. Despite these challenges, biological control offers a long-term solution that aligns with principles of ecological balance and conservation, making it a valuable tool in integrated weed management strategies aimed at preserving biodiversity and sustainable agriculture. Continued collaboration between promoting scientists, policymakers, and stakeholders is essential to optimize the benefits of biological control for managing parthenium weed and other invasive species while safeguarding our natural environment.

References

- 1. Dukpa, R., Tiwari, A., & Kapoor, D. (2020). Biological management of allelopathic plant *Parthenium* sp. Open Agriculture, 5(1), 252-261.
- Gnanamanickam, S. S., Vasudevan, P., Reddy, M. S., & De, G. (2002). Principles of biological control. In Biological control of crop diseases (pp. 15-24). CRC Press.
- Masum, S. M., Hasanuzzaman, M., & Ali, M. H. (2013). Threats of *Parthenium hysterophorus* on agro-ecosystems and its management: a review. International Journal of Agriculture and Crop Sciences, 6(11), 684.
- Shabbir, A., Bajwa, A. A., Dhileepan, K., Zalucki, M., Khan, N., & Adkins, S. (2018). Integrated use of biological approaches provides effective control of parthenium weed. Archives of Agronomy and Soil Science, 64(13), 1861-1878.
- Weyl, P., Ali, K., González-Moreno, P., ul Haq, E., Khan, K., Khan, S. A., ... & Sultan, A. (2021). The biological control of Parthenium hysterophorus L. in Pakistan: status quo and future prospects. Management of Biological Invasions, 12(3), 509.

Addressing Soil Erosion: Approaches for Sustainable Agriculture and Environmental Preservation

<u>Authors</u>

Pritom Pal

Department of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Barrackpore, West Bengal, India

Nitesh Kumar Dandasena

Department of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Barrackpore, West Bengal, India

Parijat Bhattacharya

Department of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Barrackpore, West Bengal, India

Addressing Soil Erosion: Approaches for Sustainable Agriculture and Environmental Preservation

Pritom Pal, Nitesh Kumar Dandasena and Parijat Bhattacharya

Abstract

Soil erosion, primarily, is responsible for soil degradation, resulting in a deterioration of soil quality and subsequent decline in crop productivity. Erosion involves the loss of crucial topsoil and organic matter essential for plant growth. It is primarily driven by two climatic factors: water and wind. Water-induced erosion manifests through processes such as splashing, sheet erosion, and formation of rills and gullies, while wind erosion encompasses surface creep, saltation, and suspension. The consequences of soil erosion are manifold, impacting both ecosystems and societies. They include increased flood risks, land degradation, desertification, infrastructure damage, water pollution, and economic losses. Beyond mere loss of fertile land, soil erosion exacerbates pollution and sedimentation in water bodies, leading to the degradation of aquatic ecosystems. Therefore, addressing soil erosion and its environmental impacts is crucial for sustainable agricultural practices and soil management. Various methods are employed to control erosion, including afforestation, contour farming, crop rotation, mulching, terrace farming, cover cropping, and the establishment of shelterbelts, embankments, and check dams. These measures collectively aim to preserve soil integrity, sustain agricultural productivity, and mitigate environmental degradation.

Keywords: Soil erosion, soil degradation, importance, management, sustainability.

Introduction

Soil deterioration and low water quality due to erosion and surface runoff have become severe problems worldwide. Soil erosion is the process of wind and water moving soil particles from one location and transporting and depositing them elsewhere. Erosion is a natural occurrence, shaping sand dunes, creating river deltas or carving out enormous rock features like Grand Canyon. Humans however, have dramatically accelerated this process through agricultural practices, mining, logging and grading for construction. These activities can cause detrimental effects on the environment, degrading water quality, removing vegetation and exposing soil surface, thereby increasing both runoff and erosion. Control measures are adopted to reduce or minimise the intensity of the adverse effects, including mulching, terrace farming, intercropping, contour farming (Zachar, 2011).

Soil erosion

The term 'erosion' refers to wearing away and thus soil erosion refers to the wearing away of a field's topsoil by natural physical forces of water and wind. It is a process in which the upper layer of soil is carried from one place to another place by the action of wind and water. It can be a slow process. Due to growing human population and increasing the demand for food grains has generated changes in land use pattern and farming systems which has resulted in erosion. It is relatively unnoticed or can occur at an alarming rate, causing serious loss of topsoil.

Erosion is one of the major problems and it has many effects on agricultural production. In arid regions the wind plays a major role in soil erosion followed by water and human activities. A huge amount of soil is moved by wind from one place to another area and topsoil is removed due to this soil becoming barren and unproductive. The major cause of soil erosion is human activities like cutting of forests, overgrazing, construction of roads, sand mining in rivers, stone mining in hills (Balasubramanian, 2017).

Sustainable agriculture

Sustainable agriculture is an agriculture maintained to meet humankind's needs. It is the one that can provide for humankind's needs. An agriculture that provided for the draft horse in the early 20th century in the United States might have been considered sustainable in its day. Soil erosion by water is a process of detachment and transport by raindrops and flowing water.

A number of crop production systems used in the United States might result in a very low erosion rate and could be considered sustainable. Erosion is greatly reduced because much of the surface is covered by crop residue and a mulch of loose soil and decaying organic matter. Accelerated soil erosion is a severe threat to sustainable agriculture in tropical Africa. Severe erosion in the forest region occurs when the protective vegetation is removed for intensive cultivation of row crops. Through a few approaches we can efficiently manage environmental preservation and sustainable agriculture (Laflen *et al.*, 2020).

• Practice terracing and contour farming

Because erosion develops fast due to quick run-offs, terrace farming is the only way to grow crops on steep hills. Contour farming decreases soil erosion because plants absorb water and ridges stop it from flowing, which mitigates the destruction risks. Plants with strong roots also fix the land and prevent it from sliding down the slope.

• Crop rotation

Crop rotation is the practice of growing different types of crops in succession on the same field to get maximum profit from the least investment without impairing the soil fertility. Monocropping results in exhaustion of soil nutrients and deplete soil fertility. The inclusion of legume crops in crop rotation reduces soil erosion, restores soil fertility, and conserves soil and water. Further, the incorporation of crop residue improves organic matter content, soil health, and reduces water pollution. A suitable rotation with high canopy cover crops helps in sustaining soil fertility; suppresses weed growth, decreases pests and disease infestation, increases input use efficiency, and system productivity while reducing the soil erosion.

• Intercropping

Cultivation of two or more crops simultaneously in the same field with definite or alternate row pattern is known as intercropping. It may be classified as row, strip, and relay intercropping as per the crops, soil type, topography, and climatic conditions. Intercropping involves both time-based and spatial dimensions. Erosion permitting and resisting crops should be intercropped with each other. The crops should have different rooting patterns. Intercropping provides better coverage on the soil surface, reduces the direct impact of raindrops, and protects soil from erosion.

• Conservation tillage

In this practice at least 30% of soil surface should remain covered with crop residue before and after planting the next crop to reduce soil erosion and runoff, as well as other benefits such as C sequestration. This term includes reduced tillage, minimum tillage, no-till, direct drill, mulch tillage, stubble-mulch farming, trash farming, strip tillage, etc. The concept of conservation tillage is widely accepted in large scale mechanised crop production systems to reduce the erosive impact of raindrops and to conserve the soil moisture with the maintenance of soil organic carbon. Conservation tillage improves the infiltration rate and reduces runoff and evaporation losses. It also improves soil health, organic matter, soil structure, productivity, soil fertility, and nutrient cycling and reduces soil compaction (Laflen *et al.* 2020).

Types of soil erosion

1. Water erosion

- a) Splash erosion
- b) Sheet erosion
- c) Rill erosion
- d) Gully erosion

2. Wind erosion

- a) Surface creep
- b) Saltation
- c) Suspension

Water erosion

Water erosion is the removal of soil by water and transportation of the eroded materials away from the point of removal. Water action due to rain erodes the soil and causes activities like gully, rill, and stream erosion leading to the downstream effects of flooding and sedimentation. The severity of water erosion is influenced by slope, soil type, soil water storage capacity, nature of the underlying rock, vegetation cover, and rainfall intensity and period (Li and Fang 2016).

a) Splash erosion

Splash erosion or rain drop impact represents the first stage in the erosion process. Splash erosion results from the bombardment of the soil surface by rain drops. Rain drops behave as little bombs when falling on exposed or bare soil, displacing soil particles and destroying soil structure. Studies in America have shown that splashed particles may rise as high as 0.6 metres above the ground and move up to 1.5 metres horizontally. Splash erosion results in the formation of surface crusts which reduce infiltration resulting in the start of runoff.

Splash erosion:

- Is the first stage in the erosion process
- Results from the bombardment of the soil surface by raindrops.
- Is the primary cause of soil detachment and soil disintegration
- Means that resettled sediment blocks soil pores resulting in surface crusting and lower infiltration.

b) Sheet Erosion

The removal of soil in thin layers by raindrop impact and shallow surface flow is known as sheet erosion. It results in the loss of the finest soil particles, which contain the majority of the soil's available nutrients and organic matter. It usually occurs after crusting, which is caused by the previous stage of water damage to the soil. Soil loss is so gradual that it often goes unnoticed, but the cumulative impact accounts for significant soil losses.

Overgrazed and cultivated soils with little vegetation to protect and hold the soil are the most vulnerable to sheet erosion.

Bare areas, water puddling as soon as rain falls, visible grass roots, exposed tree roots, and exposed subsoil or stony soils are early signs of sheet erosion. Active sheet erosion may be indicated by soil deposits on the high side of obstructions such as fences.

Surface water flows that cause sheet erosion rarely travel more than a few metres before condensing into rills.

c) Rill erosion

Rill erosion occurs when water concentrates deeper in the soil and begins to form faster-flowing channels. These channels, which can be up to 30cm deep, cause soil particle detachment and transportation. Rill erosion can progress into gully erosion. That is when the rills reach a depth of at least 0.3 m. Rills are narrow, shallow channels eroded into unprotected soil by hillslope runoff.

Because soil is frequently left bare during agricultural operations, rills may form on farmland during these vulnerable times. Rills can also form when bare soil is left exposed after deforestation or during construction activities. Rills are fairly visible when first incised, so they are frequently the first indication of an ongoing erosion problem. Unless soil conservation measures are implemented, rills on regularly eroding areas may eventually develop into larger erosional features such as gullies or even (in semi-arid regions) lands.

d) Gully erosion

Gully erosion is an advanced stage of rill erosion where surface channels have eroded to the point where they cannot be removed by tillage operations. Gully erosion is responsible for removing vast amounts of soil, irreversibly destroying farmland, roads and bridges and reducing water quality by increasing the sediment load in streams. Gully initiation is thought to be a response to excessive water in the local environment caused by the removal of perennial vegetation. A gully head forms as rill erosion deepens and widens creating a characteristic nick point or headwall. Most gullies extend up slope as a result of headwall migration. However, it is the collapse and slumping of the sidewalls which usually contributes the greatest proportion of soil loss. Water running into the gully either scours the face or undercuts the head wall resulting in gully migration. Widening of gully sides occurs by undercutting or slumping. Gully head shape indicates if erosion is due to scouring (forward slope) or dispersion (undercut). Believed to be a response to changed hydrological conditions (Li and Fang, 2016).

Wind erosion

Wind Erosion is the natural process of transportation and deposition of soil by the wind. It is a common phenomenon occurring mostly in dry, sandy soils or anywhere the soil is loose, dry, and finely granulated. Wind erosion damages land and natural vegetation by removing soil from one place and depositing it in another. The main mechanism of wind erosion is wind propelling sand and dirt causing erosion.

Wind erosion can be caused by activities that reduce ground cover below 50% and remove trees and scrub that act as windbreaks. Soil movement is initiated because of wind forces exerted against the surface of the ground. For each specific soil type and surface condition, there is a minimum velocity required to move soil particles. This is called the threshold velocity. Once the velocity is reached, the quantity of soil moved is dependent upon the particle size, the adhesion of the soil particles, and the wind velocity itself. Land clearing, overgrazing by livestock, and cropping are activities that leave the soil exposed to the wind. Drought causes greater wind erosion because less rain means lower vegetation growth and it is vegetation that binds the soil in place (Chepil *et al.* 1963).

a) Surface creep

Surface creep in a wind erosion event involves rolling across the surface of large particles ranging from 0.5 mm to 2 mm in diameter. This causes them to collide with, and dislodge other particles. Surface creep wind erosion results in these large particles moving only a few meters.

b) Saltation

Saltation occurs among middle-sized soil particles that range from 0.05 mm to 0.5 mm in diameter. Such particles are light enough to be lifted off the surface but are too large to become suspended. These particles move through a series of low bounces over the surface, causing an abrasion on soil surface and attrition which is the breaking of particles into smaller particles.

c) Suspension

Suspension involves tiny particles less than 0.1 mm in diameter being moved into the air by saltation, forming dust storms when taken further upwards by turbulence. These particles include very fine grains of sand, clay particles, and organic matter. However, not all dust ejected from the surface is carried in the air indefinitely. Larger dust particles (0.05 to 0.1 mm) may be dropped within a couple of kilometers of the erosion site. Particles of the order of 0.01 mm may travel hundreds of kilometers and 0.001 mm sized particles may travel thousands of kilometers (Chepil *et al.*, 1963).

Impacts of soil erosion

Loss of arable land

Soil erosion removes the top fertile layer of the soil. This layer is rich in the essential nutrients required by the plants and the soil. The degraded soil does not support crop production and leads to low crop productivity (Issaka *et al.*, 2017).

• Clogging of waterways

The agricultural soil contains pesticides, insecticides, fertilizers, and several other chemicals. This pollutes the water bodies where the soil flows. The sediments accumulate in the water and raise the water levels resulting in flooding (Issaka *et al.* 2017).



• Air pollution

The dust particles merge in the air, resulting in air pollution. Some of the toxic substances such as pesticides and petroleum can be extremely hazardous when inhaled. The dust plumes from the arid and semi-arid regions cause widespread pollution when the winds move.

• Desertification

Soil erosion is a major factor for desertification. It transforms the habitable regions into deserts. Deforestation and destructive use of land worsens the situation. This also leads to loss of biodiversity, degradation of the soil, and alteration in the ecosystem.

• Destruction of infrastructure

The accumulation of soil sediments in dams and along the banks can reduce their efficiency. Thus, it affects infrastructural projects such as dams, embankments, and drainage (Issaka *et al.*, 2017).

Control measures for soil erosion

Afforestation

Trees prevent soil erosion. So, where erosion in soil is more, planting more trees will be beneficial. Permanent vegetation in erosive areas is effective to prevent erosion.

Riprap process

This process includes stabilising soil with stones and boulders. A layer of stones can be made over the soil so that the environment cannot harm the surface of soil directly or the soil edges can be blocked by constructing a stone wall to prevent soil erosion (Meena *et al.*, 2023).

• Terracing

Terracing involves constructing ridges on steps along the contour of a slope that can reduce the speed of water flow resulting in less or no erosion of soil. This process also promotes infiltration and is mainly seen in hilly areas.

• Mulching

Erosion of soil is less when that soil has a large quantity of organic matter, such as leaves or straw. So, mulching is done by covering the soil with a layer of organic material that can reduce erosion and retain moisture (Meena *et al.*, 2023).

• Cover crops

Cover crops can be grown to prevent soil erosion. After harvesting any seasonal crops, there is a small period when the field is open to the environment, that time cover crops such as rye, lentils, mustard, clover, barley etc. are planted in the field.



Conclusion

Soil erosion is a significant challenge that affects the earth's ecosystem. It is a result of human activities that have caused massive environmental degradation. However, with proper measures like conservation farming, afforestation, and reforestation, significant improvements can be made to preserve and protect soil health. Sustainable land use practices and soilconserving measures will have a large impact on the environment and help combat soil erosion. We have a collective responsibility to care for our planet and protect it from the negative effects of soil erosion. Addressing soil erosion should be a priority for all of us. We need to implement measures that can prevent further erosion and restore the damaged soil. Only through collaborative efforts can we achieve a sustainable future where soil erosion ceases to be a significant environmental concern. Therefore, let us all take responsibility for our actions and work together to safeguard this critical resource for ourselves and the generations to come.

References

- 1. Balasubramanian, A. (2017). Soil erosion–causes and effects. Centre for Advanced Studies in Earth Science, University of Mysore, Mysore.
- 2. Chepil, W. S., & Woodruff, N. P. (1963). The physics of wind erosion and its control. *Advances in agronomy*, *15*, 211-302.
- 3. Issaka, S., & Ashraf, M. A. (2017). Impact of soil erosion and degradation on water quality: a review. *Geology, Ecology, and Landscapes, 1*(1), 1-11.
- Laflen, J. M., Lal, R., & El-Swaify, S. A. (2020). Soil erosion and a sustainable agriculture. In Sustainable Agricultural Systems (pp. 569-581). CRC Press.
- Li, Z., & Fang, H. (2016). Impacts of climate change on water erosion: A review. Earth-Science Reviews, 163, 94-117.
- Meena, R. S., Sandillya, M., Barman, A., Mourya, K. K., Hota, S. and Sakia, U. S. 2023. Soil Erosion and Preventive Measures. Vigyan Varta 4(3): 55-58.
- 7. Zachar, D. (2011). Soil erosion. Elsevier.

Understanding Fusarium Wilt: Impacts, Causes, and Management Across Various Crop Species

Authors

Nabanita Khatua

Department of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Barrackpore, West Bengal, India

Akram Gazi

Department of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Barrackpore, West Bengal, India

Ria Mukhopadhyay

Department of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Barrackpore, West Bengal, India

Understanding Fusarium Wilt: Impacts, Causes, and Management Across Various Crop Species

Nabanita Khatua, Akram Gazi and Ria Mukhopadhyay

Abstract

Fusarium wilt, caused by the soil-borne fungus Fusarium oxysporum, is a destructive plant disease that affects a wide range of crop species globally. An overview of Fusarium wilt, including its effects, causes, and methods of control for different crops, is given in this review. Food security and agricultural output are seriously threatened by the disease, which causes vascular wilt signs like as wilting, yellowing, and finally plant death. Crops that are susceptible to Fusarium wilt include tomatoes, bananas, cucurbits, and legumes. The fungus has many strains and races that target different host plants. Biological control agents, soil amendments, resistant cultivars, crop rotation, and sanitation are important management techniques that are customised for the susceptibility and production system of each crop. Effective management of diseases requires integrated methods that include chemical, biological, and cultural control techniques to preserve the food security of the world. Focused strategies should be developed to lessen the effects of Fusarium wilt and guarantee the resilience and sustainability of agricultural production systems by knowing the distinctive traits and difficulties connected with it in various crops.

Keywords: Fusarium wilt, vascular wilt, management practices.

Introduction

Currently, fungal infections are responsible for around 80% of plant illnesses. A soil-borne fungal disease called fusarium wilt causes the xylem (or water-conducting) vessels to clog, causing the plant to wilt and frequently die. Pathogenic strains of Fusarium wilts are responsible for numerous host-specific Fusarium species exist, such as *F. eumartii, F. oxysporum, F. avenaceum, F. solani, F. sulphureum,* and *F. tabacinum* (Plant Health Research and Diagnostics, 2007). Nonetheless, *F. oxysporum* is the most frequent offender.

The capacity of Fusarium species to thrive on a variety of surfaces and their effective spore dispersal methods have been linked to their global distribution (Nelson *et al.*, 1994). *Fusarium* species have a significant economic impact on the years have revealed their role as plant pathogens, causing a variety of diseases like cankers, root rots, vascular wilts on a wide range of horticultural crops (e.g., bananas, tomatoes, and cucurbits), pokkahboeng on sugarcane, and bakanae disease of rice (Booth, 1971).

Etiology of fusarium wilt

Fusarium oxysporum: The species Fusarium oxysporum is complicated. It results in a wide range of crops experiencing damaging vascular wilts (Namiki et al., 1994). Because pathogenic strains of F. oxysporum are highly host specific, the idea of "formae specials" was developed to allow for improved differentiation of these strains with comparable morphologies (PADIL, 2011). The capacity of the members of the formae speciales to inflict wilt disease on a restricted taxonomic range of host plants sets them apart (Lievens et al., 2009). Based on their pathogenicity to a collection of distinct cultivars within the same plant species, some formae speciales are further subdivided into subgroups known as races (Armstrong and Armstrong, 1981). More than 100 distinct formae speciales have been identified to far, and they can infect a broad variety of dicot and monocot plant species. Banana wilt, for instance, and Panama wilt (F. oxysporum f. sp. cubense, Fusarium wilt of cotton (F. oxysporum f. sp. vasinfectum), Sweet Potato (F. oxysporum f. sp. batatas), Callistephus (F. oxysporum f.sp. callistephi); Tomato (F. oxysporum f. sp. lvcopersici), Date Palm (F. oxysporum f.sp. albedinis), and Fusarium yellows of common beans (F. oxysporum f. sp. phaseoli).

Genetic diversity and pathogenicity: Having a thorough understanding of pathogenic diversity is crucial to creating effective disease management plans. The same formae speciales (ff. spp.) contain *Fusarium oxysporum* strains that are pathogenic to the same plant species. F o ff. spp. are thought to be specialists, yet they can have a wider host range and many F o ff. spp. may occasionally infect the same kind of plant. For the majority of F off. spp. that infect legumes, races and pathotypes have also been identified based on their virulence pattern on various plant genotypes within a species.

Pathogenesis and symptomatology

Infection process: When any of the spore's propagules or germ tube enters the host through openings created by wounds, lateral roots that emerge, or at the root cap, root hairs, or branch roots, Fusarium species enter the parasitic phase (Inoue *et al.*, 2002; Rodríguez-Molina, 2003; Hardham, 2001;

Mandeel, 2007; Wanjiru *et al.*, 2002). Fusarium secretes specific hydrolyzing enzymes that probably facilitate the penetration process (Walter *et al.*, 2009). According to reports, nematode colonization and Fusarium wilt are related, with the nematodes acting as a possible entry point or wound for the fungus (Morrell and Bloom, 1981).

When the plant dies, the newly formed spores may either be reabsorbed into the soil or spread by wind or water to other plants or regions. During the process, hyphae and chlamydospores are also generated, and conidia are also formed in sporodochia on dead leaves. When the diseased plant remnants deteriorate, the chlamydospores are released back into the soil. When they germinate by parasitic or saprophytic colonization of a new host, they can grow after being viable in the soil in their latent stage for several years. Some weeds carry Fusarium without showing any symptoms (Fassihiani, 2000).

Physiological and molecular mechanism

While *Verticillium* produces more of a "flecking" or "spotty" sort of stain, *F. oxysporum* tends to produce a darker, more continuous vascular discoloration (brown staining of stem tissue). Under Fusarium, the vascular darkening is typically more visible lower in the plant stem compared to Verticillium, which is more prevalent in Fusarium's upper tap root, cotyledonary node, and lower stem. Cotyledons and leaves wilt and drop off immature plants, leaving bare stems when they are still in the seedling stage. Fusarium wilt can be difficult to diagnose early on because symptoms that appear early on might mimic those of other seedling diseases, and symptoms that appear much later can also resemble each other to people suffering from other illnesses. For instance, symptoms are frequently mistaken for those of bacterial and *Verticillium* wilts, drought, insect damage, stem cankers, crown or root rot, and nutritional deficiencies (Hutmacher *et al.*, 2003; Plant Health Research and Diagnostics, 2007; Elliot, 2009).

Crop specific manifestation

Fusarium wilt in legume: Due to its asexual reproduction, *Fusarium oxysporum* is regarded as a pathogen with limited genotypic diversity since it has little capacity for gene transfer and a low mutation rate. F o may live for long periods of time in the soil as chlamydospores in the absence of a host. Through wounds or the natural apertures at the intercellular connections of cortical cells, roots can penetrate without the need for the development of specialized structures. After entering the root, hyphae pierce the endodermis, infiltrate the root cortex, and xylem vessels are reached. After that, the fungus spreads vertically through the xylem, where it settles in the host and grows

until the plant wilts completely. The fungus begins a widespread sporulation on the plant's surface as it dies, spreading micro- and macroconidia throughout the soil to initiate the next infection cycle. Vascular browning, leaf epinasty, stunting, progressive wilting, defoliation, and finally plant death are typical disease symptoms.

Fusarium wilt in banana: The soil-borne fungus *Fusarium oxysporum* f. sp. *cubense* (E.F. Smith) Snyder and Hansen (Foc) is the cause of fusarium wilt of bananas, also known as Panama disease (Stover, 1962). The fungus invades the vascular system of the rhizome by infecting the roots of banana plants. And pseudostem, causing distinctive withering signs before to the plant's eventual demise (Wardlaw, 1961; Stover, 1962). Based on available data, Foc most likely started in Southeast Asia (Ploetz and Pegg, 1997) and spread quickly over the globe via infected rhizomes (Stover, 1962).

Fusarium wilt in cucurbits: At any point in the plant's life cycle, *Fusarium oxysporum* f. sp. *cucumerinum* affects cucumber plants, potentially causing pre- and post-emergence damping-off; Wilt symptoms initially appear on the lower and middle leaves before moving to the upper leaves. Plants that were infected early on did not set fruit; those that were infected later produced little, irregular fruits. Sick vines frequently develop cracks. It was observed that the roots and stems had vascular discolouration. A rich crimson color may be seen in the taproot's center.

Fusarium wilt in tomato: According to Inoue et al. (2002), the fungus invades the vascular tissue by directly penetrating the roots. The signs and symptoms of Fusarium wilt symptoms can include stunted growth, leaf yellowing and wilting, reddish discolorations of the xylem vessels (which show up as lines or dots inside the stem in cross-section), white, pink, or orange fungal growth on the outside of affected stems (especially in damp conditions), and decay of the roots or stems. Symptoms initially manifest as a minor vein clearing on the young leaves' outer surface, which is then followed by the elder leaves becoming epinasty (Sally et al., 2006). This condition usually affects one sprout or one side of the plant. Numerous leaves become yellow, wilt, and eventually fall off the plant before it reaches maturity. Growth is usually stunted and little to no fruit develops as the condition worsens. There could be dark brown streaks visible along the length of the stem if the main stem is chopped. Jones et al. (1991) and Walker (1971) demonstrated that the symptoms frequently appear on mature plants following flowering and near the start of the fruit 21 configuration. A small amount of plant withering may be one of the early indications. The first signs of chlorosis develop on one side of the leaf, and eventually one half of the leaf turns yellow. Wilting is generally confined to one side of the plant as symptoms worsen.

Fusarium wilt in other economically important crops: Numerous crucifers, or cabbage family members, are vulnerable to Fusarium wilt (RPD, 1988). These consist of collard greens, kale, kohlrabi, broccoli, Brussels sprouts, cauliflower, Chinese cabbage, and watercress, turnips, rape, mustards, radishes, and seakale. The fungus has five known strains or races that have been described: According to Song *et al.* (1996), strains 1 and 2 affect cabbage, Brussels sprout cauliflower, collard, and kale; strains 3 and 4 are discovered on blooming stock; and strain 5 is found on cabbage. Vulnerable radish and cabbage types may be wiped out in heavily infected soils. As cabbage is the most frequently impacted crucifer, this article's symptoms apply to this crop as well.

Disease epidemiology

According to (Sally *et al.* 2006), the pathogen enters the plant by the root tips and can survive in the soil for up to 30 years (Thangavelu *et al.*, 2003). According to (Stephen *et al.* 2003), the mycelium grows in the xylem vessels where they shut off the water supply, causing wilting. Fusarium wilt is frequently linked to nematode colonization, in which the nematodes give the fungus a pathway of entrance.

Additionally, enzymes may make it easier for Fusarium to infect its plant host (Babalola, 2010). Low soil moisture content and warm soil temperature promote infection and disease development in Fusarium wilt (Lewis, 2003). In sandy soils, the illness is typically more severe and less problematic in heavier clay soils (Larkin *et al.*, 2002).

Management of fusarium wilt disease

Most people assume that fusarium wilts are monocyclic, meaning that the illness does not transmit from plant to plant throughout the growing season (Egel and Martyn, 2007). This is mainly because, until very late in the season, there are no propagules that can spread to other plants and create secondary infections that emerge above ground. Nonetheless, there may appear to be secondary dissemination when plant disease development rates and symptom onset times differ significantly within a field. Some data points to the possibility that some Fusarium wilts, like tomato wilt, are polycyclic diseases with the potential to significantly spread secondary throughout the season (Egel and Martyn, 2007). There may be a connection between tillage techniques, flooding or excessive rain, contaminated farm equipment, and other environmental or cultural variables. There may be a connection between
tillage techniques, flooding or excessive rain, contaminated farm equipment, and other environmental or cultural variables. When equipment and diseased plants are transferred from one field to another, field-to-field spread may happen.

Maintaining plant vitality as well as the quality and quantity of natural products depends on controlling Fusarium wilt. Many methods have been suggested to control this fungal infection, even though (Elmer 2006) state that fusarium wilt is a tough disease to control. Nonetheless, the introduction of new pathogenic races has largely contributed to the limited success of efforts to manage the disease. Cultural, biological, pharmacological, resistance-training, and natural product-based approaches are documented as being used in the management of the disease and the usage of characteristic items (Pottorf, 2006).

Cultural control

Cultural control encompasses cultivation methods and practices that will increase produce quality and quantity while also lessening the effects of pests and diseases. It involves modifying the surroundings in non-mechanic ways to manage illnesses and pests that affect plants. It involves changing agricultural methods to create an atmosphere that is unsuitable for the development of pests and disease-causing pathogens (Islam, 2001). Examples of cultural practices include- Crop rotation aids in lowering the pathogen load in the soil. In order to successfully manage a soil-borne pathogen, both the pathogen and plant wastes need to be eradicated from the agricultural area (Neshev, 2008).

Mulching, or adding a thick layer of mulch to the soil's surface, helps maintain soil temperature, maximize soil moisture, and limit weed growth. This aids in reducing infections by establishing unfavorable circumstances for soil-borne pathogens (Sally *et al.*, 2006)

Eliminating vulnerable, unhealthy weeds contributes to a decrease in the spread of diseases such as Fusarium spp. According to (Ajigbola and Babalola 2013), excessive handling of plants, such as tying, thinning, and pruning, can cause wounds and make them more vulnerable to the Fusarium wilt pathogen.

Biological control

Plant pathologists worldwide are becoming more and more interested in biological management as a potential strategy for managing soilborne pathogens. *Bacillus* and *Pseudonomas* are two of the bacterial opponent species of Arthobacter (Kapoor and Kar, 1988). Under controlled greenhouse

circumstances, biological control methods have generally shown more efficacy in reducing Fusarium wilt than in field settings. According to Panteleev (1972), using a Trichoderma viridae culture to tomato seeds reduced the frequency of *Fusarium oxysporum* f. sp. *lycopersici* from 29.5 to 6–15%. The employment of hostile microorganisms offers an alternate approach to disease management for the provision of an ecologically friendly Fusarium disease control system.

Chemical control

Agricultural chemicals are frequently employed in the control of diseases and pests. The incidence of wilt is significantly reduced when synthetic fungicides are applied to seeds. But using them is expensive and bad for the environment (Song and Goodman, 2001).

Use of resistance cultivar

When available, using resistant cultivars is the most economical and environmentally safe means of control. The best method for managing the Illness is to utilize resistant varieties. This is also one of the most successful alternate methods for managing wilt disease (Sheu *et al.*, 2006)

Use of botanical extracts The use of plant products for the control of Fusarium wilt in crops is limited, despite extensive research efforts being made to identify alternative and ecologically acceptable techniques to control plant diseases (Agbenin *et al.*, 2004). In comparison to synthetic pesticides, plant metabolites and plant- based pesticides seem to be preferable options because they are recognized to have less of an adverse effect on the environment and to provide less risk to consumers. Because plant-based medicines are readily available natural items with no side effects, there is a growing demand for them in underdeveloped nations. The goal of this study is to assess the effectiveness of various plant extracts in combating Fusarium wilt. (Agbenin and Marley, 2006).

References

- Agbenin, N.O., Emechebe, A.M., Marley, P.S. 2004. Evaluation of neem seed powder for Fusarium wilt and Meloidogyne control on tomato Archieves of Phyto pathology and Plannt Protection. 37(4):319-326.
- Agbenin, N.O., Marley, P.S. 2006. *In vitro* assay of some plant Extracts Against *Fusarium oxysporum* f. Sp. *Lycopersici*, causal Agent of Tomato wilt. Journal of Plant Protection Research, 46(3).

- 3. Ajigbola, C.F., Babalola, O.O. 2013. Integrated Management Strategies for Tomato Fusarium Wilt. Biocontrol Sciences. 18(3):17-127.
- Armstrong, G.M., and Armstrong, J.K. 1981. Formae speciales and races of Fusarium Oxysporum causing wilt disease. In Fusarium: Disease, biology, and taxonomy. P.E. Nelson, T.A. Toussoun and R.J. Cook (eds). Pp. 391–399. University Park, PA: Pennsylvania State University Press.
- 5. Article ID 273264, 2010a, 7. Lewis J. Tomato notes. Missouri Environment and Garden.News for Missouri Garden, Yards and Resources, 2003, 9(8).
- 6. Babalola, O.O. 2010. Pectinolytic and Cellulolytic enzymes enhance Fusarium compactum virulence on tubercles infection of Egyptian broomape. International Journal of Microbiology.
- 7. Booth, C. 1971. Fusarium: laboratory guide to the identification of the major species. Kew, Surrey: Commonwealth Mycological Institute.
- 8. Egel, D.S., Martyn, R.D. 2007. Fusarium wilt of watermelon and other cucurbits. The Plant Health Instructor
- 9. Elmer, W.H. 2006. Effects of acibenzolar-S-methyl on the suppression of Fusarium wilt of cyclamen. Crop protection. 2006; 25:671-676.
- Fassihiani, A. 2000. Symptomless carriers of the causal agent of tomato wilt pathogen. Journal of Agriculture, Science and Technology, 2: 27-32.
- 11. Hutmacher, B., Davis M.R., Kim, Y. 2003. Fusarium Information. University of California Cooperative Extension. 7p.
- 12. Inoue, I., Namiki, F. and Tsuge T. 2002. Plant Colonization by the Vascular Wilt Fungus *Fusarium oxysporum* Requires FOW1, a gene encoding a mitochondrial protein. The Plant Cell 14:1869-1883.
- 13. Inoue, I., Namiki, F. and Tsuge T. 2002. Plant Colonization by the Vascular Wilt Fungus *Fusarium oxysporum* Requires FOW1, a gene encoding a mitochondrial protein. The Plant Cell 14:1869-1883.
- 14. Islam Z. 2001. Control of rice insect pests. (Atkinson, A.D., ed.), International Rice Reseach Institute, Phillipines, 4-20.
- 15. Jones, J.D.G.; Dangl, J.L. 2006. The plant immune system. Nature, 444, 323–329.
- Kapoor IJ, Kar PO. Antagonism of Azotobater and Bacillus to Fusarium oxysporum f.sp. lycopersici. Indian Phytopathology. 1988; 42(3):400-404.

- Larkin P, Fravel DR. 2002. Effects of varying environmental conditions on biological control of Fusarium wilt of tomato by Non-pathogenic Fusarium spp. American Journal of Phytopathology. USDA—ARS, MD 20705.
- Lievens, B., Houterman, P.M. and Rep, M. 2009. Effector gene screening allows Unambiguous identification of *Fusarium oxysporum* f. sp. *lycopersici* races and Discrimination from other formae speciales. FEMS Microbiology Letters 300(2):201- 215.
- 19. Morrell, J.J. and Bloom, J.R. 1981. Influence of Meloidogyne incognita on Fusarium wilt of tomato at or below the minimum temperature for wilt development. Journal of Nematology 1(1): 57-60.
- 20. Namiki, F., Shiomi, T., Kayamura, T., and Tsuge, T. 1994. Characterization of the formae speciales of *Fusarium oxysporum* causing wilt of cucurbits by DNA fingerprinting with Nuclear repetitive DNA sequences. Applied Environmental Microbiology. 60: 2684–2691.
- Nelson, P.E., Dignani M.C. and Anaisse E.J. 1994. Taxonomy, biology, and clinical aspects of Fusarium species. Clinical Microbiology Reviews 7(4): 479-504.
- 22. Neshev G. 2008. Alternatives to replace methyl bromide for soil- borne pest control in East and Central Europe. In. Labrada, R., ed., 1-14.
- 23. PADIL 2011. Pests and Diseases Image Library. Fusarium wilt of chicken pea (*Fusarium oxysporum* f. sp. *ciceris*).
- Ploetz and Pegg, 1997. R.C. Ploetz and K.G. Pegg, Fusarium wilt of banana and Wallace's Line: was the disease originally restricted to his Indo-Malayan region? Australas. Plant Pathol. 26, pp. 239–249.
- 25. Pottorf L. 2006. Recognizing Tomato Problems. Colorado State. University co-operative Extension. 2:949.
- 26. Sally, A.M., Randal C.R, Richard M.R. 2006. Fusarium Verticillium wilts of Tomato, Potato, Pepper and Egg Plant. The Ohio State University Extension
- 27. Song F, Goodman R.M. 2001. Physiology and Molecular Plant Pathology. 59:1-11. Sheu ZM, Wang TC. First Report of Race 2 of *Fusarium oxysporum f. sp. lycopersici*, the causal agent of Fusarium wilt
- 28. Song J.H., Kim Y.W. and Cho J.H. 1996. Varietal difference and inheritance of cabbage yellows (*Fusarium oxysporum* f.sp. conglutinans

Snyder et Hansen) resistance in Cabbage. Korean Journal of Breeding, 28: 171-177.

- 29. Stephen A.F, Andre K.G. 2003. *Fusarium oxysporum*. Department of Plant Pathology, CTAHR University of Hawaii at Manoa.
- Thangavelu R, Palaniswani A, Velazhahan R. 2003. Mass production of *Trichoderma harzianum* for managing Fusarium wilt of banana. Agricultural Ecosystem and Environment. 103:259-263.
- Walter, S., Nicholson, P. and Dooha, F.M. 2009. Action and reaction of host and pathogen during Fusarium head blight disease. New Phytologist 185: 54–66.
- Wardlaw, C.W. 1961. Banana Diseases, Including Plantains and Abaca, Longmans, Green and Co. Ltd, London (1961). on Tomato in Taiwan. The American Phyto pathological Society; 90:111.

Role of Vectors towards Plant Virus Transmission and Mitigation Protocol

Authors

Pallabi Chatterjee

School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Barrackpore, West Bengal, India

Tuhina Khatun

School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Barrackpore, West Bengal, India

Krishnendu Roy

School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Barrackpore, West Bengal, India

Rakesh Das

School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Barrackpore, West Bengal, India

Role of Vectors towards Plant Virus Transmission and Mitigation Protocol

Pallabi Chatterjee, Tuhina Khatun, Krishnendu Roy and Rakesh Das

Abstract

Plant viruses pose significant threats to agricultural productivity worldwide, causing substantial economic losses and ecological disturbances. Vector-mediated transmission is a primary mechanism through which these viruses spread among plants, highlighting the critical role of vectors in virus epidemiology. This article explores the diverse roles of vectors in the transmission of plant viruses and elucidates the underlying mechanisms involved. Vectors, including insects, nematodes and fungi, exhibit intricate relationships with plant viruses, influencing their dissemination, persistence, and evolution. Understanding the interactions between vectors and viruses is essential for designing effective mitigation strategies to manage viral diseases in plants. Various mitigation protocols, including vector control measures, host plant resistance breeding, and novel biotechnological approaches, aim at reducing the impact of plant viruses on agricultural systems. Furthermore, the challenges associated with vector-mediated virus transmission and the developments of sustainable management strategies are examined. Overall, this article underscores the importance of comprehensively studying vectors' roles in plant virus transmission and implementing integrated approaches for effective virus mitigation in agricultural settings. By understanding and managing the interactions between vectors and viruses, agricultural systems can better withstand viral threats and sustainably maintain productivity.

Keywords: Plant virus, vectors, virus transmission, mitigation strategy, agricultural systems

Introduction

Plant viruses are a serious danger to the world's food security and economic stability because of their complicated relationship to agricultural ecosystems. Millions of people relying on agriculture for a living are at risk due to these minuscule viruses, which have the ability to destroy agricultural production and interfere with supply systems (Casteel and Falk, 2016). In the complicated web of viral transmission, vectors become key factors in determining the epidemiology of these sneaky illnesses.

Various creatures, such as fungi, insects, nematodes, and even human activity, can operate as vectors due to their various form and function. Nonetheless, because of their extraordinary adaptability and mobility, insect vectors are frequently in the vanguard of the spread of plant viruses and have a significant impact on the robustness and well-being of agricultural systems all over the world. A careful balance of interactions determined by ecological, physiological, and molecular factors characterises the complex and varied relationship between plant viruses and their vectors (Hamelin *et al.*, 2016; Jia *et al.*, 2018).

Recognising the nuances of vector behaviour, viral biology, and environmental factors is essential to comprehending the dynamics of vectormediated virus transmission. Furthermore, the epidemiological landscape is further complicated by the temporal and spatial dynamics of vector populations, which are shaped by factors like climate, land use patterns, and agricultural practices (Mauck *et al.*, 2012). These dynamics also influence the trajectory of virus dissemination and disease epidemics.

In light of these difficulties and complexities, it is clear that effective mitigation techniques are necessary to stop the spread of plant viruses via vectors. Through the comprehensive investigation of vector biology, viral ecology, and host-pathogen interactions, scholars and agricultural stakeholders can develop a diverse range of strategies targeted at reducing the negative effects of vectors on crop health and yield. A variety of methods and techniques, such as integrated pest management (IPM) techniques, resistant cultivar breeding, and creative molecular treatments, show promise in enhancing the ability of agricultural systems to withstand viral threats (Jones, 2006).

Classification of plant viruses

Four major groups based on the nature of the genome:

1. Single-stranded DNA (ssDNA)

There are two families of plant viruses in this group. These are small circular genome components, often with two or more segments. E.g. Geminiviridae

2. Double-stranded DNA (dsDNA)

They infect lower species of plant such as algae. E.g. Caulimovirus

3. Double-stranded RNA (dsRNA)

Some plant viruses and many of the mycoviruses are included in this group. E.g. Chrysoviridae, Endornaviridae, Partitiviridae.

4. Single-stranded RNA (ssRNA)

These are of two types: Single-stranded RNA with positive polarity (ssRNA+) and Single-stranded RNA with negative polarity (ssRNA-). Plant viruses are included in (ssRNA+) group are Tombusviridae, Bromoviridae, Potyviridae and (ssRNA-) group are Rhabdoviridae.

Plant virus transmission

Although there are many ways for plant viruses to spread, two main ways - horizontal and vertical; have come to be recognised as essential to comprehending their ecology and effects (Madden *et al.*, 2000; Blanc and Michalakis, 2016). Unravelling the dichotomy of plant viral transmission is crucial because each form offers distinct processes and implications for managing diseases.

Horizontal transmission

Plant viruses can spread horizontally, or outside of their host plant, through the use of intermediary agents like vectors, people, or environmental conditions. The following are important horizontal transmission mechanisms:

- Vector-mediated transmission: Aphids, whiteflies, thrips, and leafhoppers are examples of insects that act as vectors; they pick up viruses from sick plants and then transfer them to healthy plants when they eat.
- Mechanical transmission: Viral particles can spread directly across plants through human actions like pruning, grafting, or the use of contaminated tools and equipment, obviating the need for vectors.

• Vertical transmission

On the other hand, vertical transmission happens when a plant contracts a virus from its parent plant through sexual or asexual reproduction. Viral particles are transferred from infected parent plants to their progeny by this mechanism of transmission, which keeps the virus alive within the plant population. Important vertical transmission systems consist of:

• Asexual propagation: Viral infections from parent plants can be inherited by plants grown vegetatively, such as cuttings or divisions,

which can result in the clonal proliferation of viruses within cultivated populations.

 Sexual reproduction: Viral infections can vertically spread from one generation to the next through sexual reproduction when viruses are spread through contaminated seeds. Another name for this transmission method is propagative transmission.

Virus-vector relationship

Plant diseases can be caused by various types of viruses, each exhibiting different relationships with their vector organisms (Hamelin *et al.*, 2016; Whitfield *et al.*, 2015). Here are descriptions of some common types:

- 1. **Persistent viruses:** In this relationship, viruses are retained in the vector's body for a prolonged period, often for the insect's entire lifespan. When the vector feeds on an infected plant, the virus attaches to specific cells in the vector's gut, salivary glands, or other tissues. Examples include some aphid-transmitted viruses like Potato leafroll virus.
- 2. Non-persistent viruses: These viruses are not retained in the vector's body for an extended period. Instead, they are quickly ingested during feeding and are rapidly transmitted to a new host during subsequent feeding. The virus particles may adhere to the vector's mouthparts, and transmission can occur within seconds to minutes after acquisition. For example, some viruses transmitted by thrips, like Tomato spotted wilt virus, exhibit this type of relationship.
- **3. Semi-persistent viruses:** This relationship falls between the persistent and non-persistent types. The virus is retained in the vector for a moderate duration, typically hours to days, before transmission. During this time, the virus may circulate within the vector's body, often colonizing specific tissues or organs. Examples include some viruses transmitted by whiteflies, such as Tomato yellow leaf curl virus.
- 4. Circulative viruses: In this type of relationship, viruses circulate within the vector's body, often passing through specific organs or tissues before being transmitted to a new host. The virus may replicate and spread within the vector, potentially causing damage to its physiological processes. Examples include viruses transmitted by leafhoppers, such as Maize chlorotic mottle virus.
- 5. **Propagative viruses:** In this relationship, the virus actively replicates within the vector organism, often infecting and damaging

its tissues. Unlike circulative viruses, which may cause minimal harm to the vector, propagative viruses can severely impact the health and longevity of the vector. Examples include some viruses transmitted by aphids, such as Citrus tristeza virus.

Vectors in plant virus transmission

Vectors are organisms, predominantly insects and nematodes, that transmit plant viruses from infected to healthy plants during feeding activities. Insects such as aphids, whiteflies, leafhoppers, and thrips are among the most common vectors responsible for spreading plant viruses (Marsh *et al.*, 2000; Ng and Perry, 2004). These tiny organisms not only feed on plant tissues but also inadvertently introduce viral particles into the plant's vascular system, leading to systemic infection. Similarly, nematodes, microscopic worms found in soil, can transmit viruses to plant roots, initiating infection from below the ground.

Insect vectors	Mode of Transmission	Examples of virus groups
	Non persistent	Potyvirus, Caulimovirus Cucumovirus
1. Aphid	Semi persistent	Closterovirus
	Circulative	Luteovirus, Polerovirus
	Circulative-Propagative	Rhabdovirus
2. Whiteflies	Semi persistent	Begomovirus, Ipomovirus
	Circulative	Crinivirus
4. Thrips	Circulative-Propagative	Tospovirus
5. Mite	Semi persistent	Rymovirus, Tritimovirus
	Circulative-Propagative	Rhabdovirus, Emaravirus
7. Leaf hoppers	Circulative-Propagative, Circulative	Tungrovirus, curtovirus

Above ground

Below ground

Non-insect vectors	Mode of transmission	Examples of viruses	
1. Nematode	Persistent	Nepovirus, Tobravirus	
2. Chytrids (fungi)	Persistent	Ophiovirus,Necrovirus	
3. Plasmodiophoroids	Persistent	Bymivirus, Bynivirus, Furovirus, Pumovirus	



Source: Sharma and Shanmugam, 2014

Fig 2: Vectors of plant viruses: a. Non-alate aphid; b. Alate aphid; c. Whitefly; d. Leaf hopper; e & f. Thrips; g. Nematode

Mitigation strategies

Management measures for the vectors of plant viruses involve a multifaceted approach that integrates various strategies aimed at reducing vector populations, interrupting virus transmission, and enhancing plant resistance (Moreno-Delafuente *et al.*, 2013; Oliver and Fuchs, 2011). Here are some advanced management measures:

- Use of bio-agents: Implement biological control strategies using natural enemies of vector populations. This may involve releasing predators, parasitoids, or entomopathogenic fungi that target aphids, whiteflies, thrips, and other vector species. This approach can help suppress vector populations while minimizing the use of chemical pesticides.
- Genetic modification: Develop genetically modified plants with enhanced resistance to vector feeding or virus infection. Genetic engineering techniques can be used to introduce genes encoding insecticidal proteins or antiviral compounds into crop plants, making them less attractive to vectors or more resistant to virus infection upon vector transmission.
- **Trap crops and borders:** Plant trap crops or border plants that attract and trap vector insects away from main crops. Trap crops can serve as a source of alternative food or oviposition sites for vectors, reducing their movement into the main crop field and decreasing virus transmission.
- **Behavioural manipulation:** Use semiochemicals, such as pheromones or repellents, to manipulate vector behavior and disrupt their mating, feeding, or host-finding activities. This approach can

help deter vectors from colonizing crops or reduce their ability to transmit viruses.

- Host plant resistance: Develop and deploy crop varieties with inherent resistance or tolerance to vector feeding or virus infection. Breeding programs can focus on identifying and introgressing resistance genes from wild relatives or other genetic sources into commercial cultivars, providing durable and environmentally sustainable protection against vector-borne diseases.
- Chemical control: Chemical control of plant virus vectors involves applying insecticides to reduce vector populations and prevent virus transmission. Choose effective insecticides, time applications during peak vector activity, and consider factors like mode of action and resistance management. Apply insecticides via foliar sprays, soil drenches, or systemic methods, and use adjuvants or synergists to enhance efficacy. Follow safety precautions and integrate chemical control with other management tactics for sustainable vector control.
- Area-wide management: Coordinate vector control efforts at the landscape or regional level to create buffer zones, reduce vector migration, and prevent virus spread between different cropping systems. Collaborative initiatives involving multiple stakeholders, including farmers, researchers, extension agents, and policymakers, can promote effective vector management and disease control across diverse agricultural landscapes.

Conclusion

Vectors play a pivotal role in the transmission of plant viruses, posing significant challenges to global agriculture. Understanding the intricate mechanisms underlying virus-vector interactions is essential for developing effective mitigation strategies. By integrating vector control measures, host plant resistance, sanitation practices, and surveillance efforts, stakeholders can minimize the impact of plant viruses and safeguard agricultural systems against future threats. Collaboration between researchers, policymakers, and agricultural stakeholders is critical for implementing sustainable solutions to combat virus transmission and ensure food security for future generations.

References

1. Blanc, S. and Michalakis, Y., 2016. Manipulation of hosts and vectors by plant viruses and impact of the environment. Current opinion in insect science, 16, pp.36-43.

- Casteel, C.L. and Falk, B.W., 2016. Plant virus-vector interactions: More than just for virus transmission. Current research topics in plant virology, pp.217-240.
- Hamelin, F.M., Allen, L.J., Prendeville, H.R., Hajimorad, M.R. and Jeger, M.J., 2016. The evolution of plant virus transmission pathways. Journal of theoretical biology, 396, pp.75-89.
- Jia, D., Chen, Q., Mao, Q., Zhang, X., Wu, W., Chen, H., Yu, X., Wang, Z. and Wei, T., 2018. Vector mediated transmission of persistently transmitted plant viruses. Current opinion in virology, 28, pp.127-132.
- 5. Jones, R.A., 2006. Control of plant virus diseases. Advances in Virus Research, 67, pp.205-244.
- 6. Madden, L.V., Jeger, M.J. and Van den Bosch, F., 2000. A theoretical assessment of the effects of vector-virus transmission mechanism on plant virus disease epidemics. Phytopathology, 90(6), pp.576-594.
- Marsh, T.L., Huffaker, R.G. and Long, G.E., 2000. Optimal control of vector-virus-plant interactions: the case of potato leafroll virus net necrosis. American Journal of Agricultural Economics, 82(3), pp.556-569.
- Mauck, K., Bosque-Pérez, N.A., Eigenbrode, S.D., De Moraes, C.M. and Mescher, M.C., 2012. Transmission mechanisms shape pathogen effects on host-vector interactions: evidence from plant viruses. Functional Ecology, 26(5), pp.1162-1175.
- 9. Moreno-Delafuente, A., Garzo, E., Moreno, A. and Fereres, A., 2013. A plant virus manipulates the behavior of its whitefly vector to enhance its transmission efficiency and spread. PloS one, 8(4), p.e61543.
- 10. Ng, J.C. and Perry, K.L., 2004. Transmission of plant viruses by aphid vectors. Molecular plant pathology, 5(5), pp.505-511.
- Oliver, J.E. and Fuchs, M., 2011. Tolerance and resistance to viruses and their vectors in Vitis sp.: A virologist's perspective of the literature. American Journal of Enology and Viticulture, 62(4), pp.438-451.
- Sharma, P. and Shanmugam, V., 2014. Annual Review of Phytopathology, 2013. Current Science, pp.879-880.
- 13. Whitfield, A.E., Falk, B.W. and Rotenberg, D., 2015. Insect vectormediated transmission of plant viruses. Virology, 479, pp.278-289.

Unearthing the Menace of Microplastic Pollution in Earth's Silent Crisis

<u>Authors</u>

Rimita Dutta

School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Barrackpore, West Bengal, India

Sudip Sengupta

School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Barrackpore, West Bengal, India

Unearthing the Menace of Microplastic Pollution in Earth's Silent Crisis

Rimita Dutta and Sudip Sengupta

Abstract

Microplastic pollution has emerged as a silent and insidious threat to the health of our soil environment, unraveling a complex web of ecological consequences. This study delves into the pervasive presence of microplastics in soil, investigating their origins, pathways, and potential repercussions on terrestrial ecosystems. Microplastics, defined as particles smaller than 5mm, infiltrate the soil through various channels, including the breakdown of larger plastic debris, the application of plastic-based fertilizers, and atmospheric deposition. Their diminutive size allows them to readily permeate the soil matrix, posing a significant challenge for detection and mitigation. As microplastics accumulate in the soil, they disrupt vital processes such as nutrient cycling, water retention, and microbial activity, leading to cascading effects on plant health and ecosystem resilience. Moreover, microplastics act as vectors for harmful chemicals, absorbing pollutants from the environment and transporting them into the soil. This exacerbates the contamination of agricultural lands, potentially entering the food chain and posing threats to human health. The interconnectedness of soil ecosystems makes the impact of microplastic pollution far-reaching, necessitating urgent attention and comprehensive strategies for mitigation. This research underscores the critical need for interdisciplinary efforts to address the microplastic predicament in soil. Through a better understanding of sources, transport mechanisms, and ecological consequences, we can develop targeted interventions to mitigate this growing environmental challenge and safeguard the health of our soils, ecosystems, and ultimately, our planet.

Keywords: Microplastic, soil pollution, environment.

Introduction

Microplastic pollution has emerged as a pressing environmental concern, representing a pervasive and insidious threat to soil health and ecosystem

integrity. Defined as plastic particles smaller than 5 millimeters in size, microplastics have infiltrated virtually every corner of the Earth, from the deepest ocean trenches to the most remote mountain peaks. While much attention has been directed towards plastic pollution in marine environments, the contamination of soil and terrestrial ecosystems with microplastics has garnered increasing scrutiny in recent years. The proliferation of microplastics in soil and the broader environment is driven by a complex interplay of factors, including inadequate waste management practices, the fragmentation of larger plastic debris, and the widespread use of plastic-based materials in various industries. These tiny particles, derived from sources such as plastic packaging, synthetic textiles, and agricultural mulches, possess unique physical and chemical properties that render them particularly resilient to degradation (Horton *et al.*, 2017).

Once introduced into soil ecosystems, microplastics exhibit a myriad of deleterious effects, exerting profound impacts on soil structure, nutrient cycling, microbial communities, and plant health. Their small size facilitates their uptake by soil organisms, ranging from earthworms and microarthropods to plants and fungi, potentially leading to bioaccumulation and biomagnification within terrestrial food webs. Furthermore, microplastics serve as vectors for harmful pollutants, such as heavy metals, pesticides, and persistent organic pollutants (POPs), which can adsorb onto their surfaces or leach out into the surrounding soil environment (Nizzetto *et al.*, 2016). This phenomenon not only poses risks to soil-dwelling organisms but also raises concerns regarding the potential transfer of contaminants to higher trophic levels, including humans, through the consumption of contaminated food crops.

Despite growing awareness of the issue, our understanding of the dynamics and implications of microplastic pollution in soil and terrestrial ecosystems remains incomplete. Key knowledge gaps persist regarding the sources, fate, transport, and ecological impacts of microplastics in soil environments, necessitating further research and concerted action to address this burgeoning environmental challenge. In light of the multifaceted nature of microplastic pollution, holistic approaches are required to mitigate its adverse effects on soil and terrestrial ecosystems (Horton *et al.*, 2017). This entails enhancing waste management infrastructure to minimize the input of plastic waste into the environment, promoting the development and adoption of alternative materials that are biodegradable and less prone to fragmentation, and implementing strategies to remediate existing microplastic contamination in soil environments (Nizzetto *et al.*, 2016). Moreover, there is a pressing need

to raise public awareness and foster interdisciplinary collaboration among scientists, policymakers, industry stakeholders, and civil society to tackle the issue of microplastic pollution comprehensively. By collectively acknowledging the gravity of the problem and embracing innovative solutions, we can strive towards safeguarding soil health, preserving biodiversity, and ensuring the long-term sustainability of terrestrial ecosystems in the face of the microplastic menace.

What microplastics are?

The term of "microplastics" was first coined by Thompson in 2004. Recent reviews claim that plastics, including many reported as biodegradable, are actually more prone to disintegration than degradation. Thus, macroscopic plastic pollution generates particles smaller than 5 mm, which are commonly referred to as microplastics (MP). The Joint Group of Experts on the Scientific Aspects of Marine Environmental Protection (GESAMP), defines microplastics as plastic particles < 5 mm in diameter, which include particles in the nano-size range (1 nm) (GESAMP, 2016).

Microplastics are minuscule plastic particles, typically smaller than 5 millimeters in size that originate from the breakdown of larger plastic debris or are intentionally manufactured at a microscopic scale for various purposes. These particles are pervasive in the environment, found in oceans, rivers, lakes, soils, and even in the air we breathe. Despite their diminutive size, microplastics wield significant environmental and ecological consequences (Thompson *et al.*, 2004).

There are two primary sources of microplastics: primary and secondary. Primary microplastics are purposefully manufactured at a small scale for various applications, such as microbeads in personal care products, microfibers in textiles, or pellets used in industrial processes. Secondary microplastics result from the degradation of larger plastic items, such as bottles, bags, and packaging, through processes like photodegradation and mechanical abrasion. The environmental persistence of microplastics is staggering. Once released into the environment, they undergo fragmentation into smaller particles but do not biodegrade. Instead, they persist for hundreds, if not thousands, of years, accumulating in various ecosystems and posing a range of threats to wildlife and human health. In aquatic environments, microplastics are particularly problematic. They can be ingested by a wide array of marine organisms, from plankton to whales, causing internal blockages, physical harm, and toxicological effects. Furthermore, microplastics have the capacity to adsorb and accumulate harmful pollutants such as heavy metals, pesticides, and persistent organic pollutants from the surrounding environment. When consumed by marine organisms, these pollutants can bioaccumulate and biomagnify through the food chain, eventually reaching humans who consume seafood. Microplastics also pose challenges in terrestrial ecosystems. They can contaminate soils, affecting soil health and fertility, and may be ingested by terrestrial organisms, potentially entering the food chain (GESAMP, 2016).

Moreover, microplastics have been detected in the atmosphere, transported over long distances through air currents. Their presence in the air raises concerns about inhalation exposure and deposition onto terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems. Addressing the issue of microplastics requires concerted efforts across multiple fronts. Strategies include reducing plastic consumption and waste generation, implementing improved waste management and recycling infrastructure, designing eco-friendly alternatives to plastic products, and developing technologies for the efficient removal and remediation of microplastics from the environment.



General characteristics of microplastics:

The characteristics of microplastics have been reported by Leslie, 2014 as:

- 1) Size range: Microplastics are typically defined as plastic particles ranging in size from 1 micron to 5 millimeters (although some definitions extend this range to 1 millimeter).
- 2) Origin: Microplastics can originate from various sources, including

the breakdown of larger plastic debris (macroplastics), fragmentation of synthetic fibers, and microbeads found in personal care products like exfoliating scrubs.

- **3) Composition:** Microplastics are composed of diverse synthetic polymers, including Polyethylene (PE), Polypropylene (PP), Polystyrene (PS), Polyethylene Terephthalate (PET), and others. These polymers can endure for hundreds to thousands of years in the environment, contributing to long-term pollution.
- **4) Ubiquitous distribution:** Microplastics are ubiquitous in the environment, found in various ecosystems ranging from oceans and freshwater bodies to soil and air. They are also prevalent in urban areas, agricultural lands, and remote wilderness regions.
- 5) **Transport mechanisms:** Microplastics can be transported over long distances through atmospheric processes like wind dispersion, as well as aquatic currents in rivers, streams, and oceans. They can also be carried by wildlife or incorporated into sediment layers.
- 6) Sorption properties: Microplastics have high surface area-tovolume ratios, which enhance their ability to adsorb and accumulate organic and inorganic pollutants from the surrounding environment. These pollutants can include persistent organic pollutants (POPs), heavy metals, and pathogens.
- 7) Ecological impact: Microplastics pose a range of ecological risks to organisms across various trophic levels. They can be ingested by a wide array of marine and terrestrial species, leading to physical harm, internal blockages, and the transfer of toxins up the food chain.
- 8) Bioaccumulation and biomagnification: Microplastics have the potential to bioaccumulate in organisms, especially those with long lifespans and diets rich in plastic-contaminated prey. Furthermore, they can undergo biomagnification, wherein concentrations increase at higher trophic levels.
- **9) Human health concerns:** There is growing concern about the potential health impacts of microplastic exposure on human populations. While the full extent of these risks is still being investigated, studies suggest that microplastics may enter the human body through ingestion, inhalation, and dermal contact, with potential implications for systemic health.
- **10) Monitoring and mitigation:** Monitoring and mitigating microplastic pollution require interdisciplinary approaches

encompassing scientific research, policy interventions, and public awareness campaigns. Strategies may include implementing better waste management practices, developing alternative materials, and enhancing filtration systems in wastewater treatment plants.

Classification of microplastic according to polymer

Microplastic and their diverse polymer constituents can be characterized following Driedger *et al.*, 2015. One crucial aspect of understanding and mitigating the impacts of microplastics lies in their classification based on polymer types, which helps identify their sources, behavior, and potential risks to ecosystems and organisms.

- 1) **Polyethylene (PE):** Polyethylene, a widely used polymer, contributes significantly to microplastic pollution. It is commonly found in single-use plastics such as shopping bags, food packaging, and bottles. Microplastics derived from polyethylene are lightweight and buoyant, capable of long-range transport through water bodies and aerial dispersion. They pose ingestion risks to marine organisms and terrestrial wildlife, potentially leading to physical harm and bioaccumulation of toxic substances.
- 2) Polypropylene (PP): Polypropylene is another prevalent polymer found in microplastics, often used in food containers, packaging materials, and textiles. Microplastics composed of polypropylene exhibit moderate buoyancy and are resistant to chemical degradation. They can adsorb persistent organic pollutants (POPs) from the surrounding environment, posing toxicity risks upon ingestion by marine organisms and subsequent entry into the food chain.
- **3) Polyethylene Terephthalate (PET):** PET, commonly used in beverage bottles, food packaging, and synthetic fibers, contributes to the abundance of microplastics in aquatic and terrestrial environments. Microplastics derived from PET exhibit durability and resistance to degradation, persisting in the environment for extended periods. They pose ingestion risks to marine life and terrestrial organisms, potentially causing digestive tract blockages and leaching harmful additives.
- 4) Polyvinyl Chloride (PVC): PVC, a versatile polymer used in construction materials, pipes, and consumer products, contributes to microplastic pollution through degradation of PVC-based items. Microplastics containing PVC can release additives such as phthalates and heavy metals, posing toxicity risks to aquatic

organisms and bioaccumulating in the food chain. They may also adsorb hydrophobic pollutants, exacerbating environmental contamination.

- 5) Polystyrene (PS): Polystyrene, prevalent in disposable food containers, packaging materials, and foam products, contributes to microplastic contamination in marine and terrestrial ecosystems. Microplastics composed of polystyrene are lightweight and buoyant, facilitating their dispersion in water bodies and ingestion by aquatic organisms. They may release toxic compounds and persist in the environment, posing ecological risks and impacting biodiversity.
- 6) Others: Besides the aforementioned polymers, microplastics can also originate from various other plastic types, including polyurethane, acrylics, and nylon, each with distinct properties and environmental behaviors. Understanding the diverse composition of microplastics enables researchers and policymakers to develop targeted mitigation strategies and regulations to curb their proliferation and mitigate their adverse effects on ecosystems and human health.

Polymer type	Abbreviation	Examples/ Source
Polyethylene terepthalate	PET	Bottles
Polyester	PES	Clothing
Polyethylene	PE	Common plastic
High density polyethylene	HDPE	Thick plastic containers
Polyvinyl chloride	PVC	Plumbing pipes
Polypropylene	PP	Drinking straws
Polyamide	PA	Nylon products
Polystyrene	PS	Beads used in beads

Types of microplastics according to source

Microplastics, minute plastic particles measuring less than 5 millimeters in size, infiltrate terrestrial environments through various sources and pathways, each contributing to the proliferation of these pervasive pollutants. By categorizing microplastics based on their origin, we can discern primary microplastics, secondary microplastics, and fragments of macroplastics, each with distinct implications for environmental contamination.

Primary microplastics: These microplastics are intentionally manufactured at small sizes or become directly released into the environment as part of certain processes. They include:

- 1. Sewage sludge: Sewage treatment plants are one of the primary sources of microplastic contamination in terrestrial environments. Synthetic fibers from clothing, microbeads from personal care products, and other plastic debris from household waste can all accumulate in sewage sludge, which is then often used as fertilizer on agricultural land.
- 2. Coated fertilizers: Certain fertilizers are coated with plastic materials to control the release of nutrients into the soil. Over time, these coatings can degrade, leading to the release of microplastic particles into the environment.

Secondary microplastics: These microplastics originate from larger plastic items that undergo degradation into smaller fragments before reaching terrestrial environments. Sources of secondary microplastics include:

- 1. Plastics in compost: Organic waste, including food scraps and plant matter, often contains plastic packaging or other plastic items that are not biodegradable. When this waste is composted, these plastics can break down into microplastic particles, contaminating the resulting compost.
- 2. Greenhouse plastics: Greenhouses commonly use plastic materials for construction and covering to regulate temperature and humidity. Exposure to sunlight and weathering causes these plastics to degrade into microplastics, which can accumulate in the surrounding soil.
- **3. Mulches:** Plastic mulches are frequently used in agriculture to suppress weeds and conserve soil moisture. Over time, these mulches can fragment into microplastic particles, which are then dispersed into the soil.

Fragments of macroplastics: Macroplastics are large plastic items that have already entered terrestrial environments and subsequently fragmented into smaller pieces. These fragments can include various shapes, such as films, flakes, beads, fibers, and spherical beads. They originate from diverse sources, including plastic packaging, discarded plastic products, and industrial waste, among others. Overall, the presence of microplastics in terrestrial environments poses significant challenges for ecosystem health and human well-being. Understanding the sources and pathways of microplastic contamination is essential for implementing effective mitigation strategies and safeguarding the integrity of terrestrial ecosystems.

Effects of microplastics in the soil environment

As with the concerns with plastics in other sector, there are issues with their application in agriculture also. Over time, film residue can decrease soil porosity and air circulation, change the microbial communities, and potentially lower farmland fertility. Fragments of plastic film have also been shown to release potentially carcinogenic phthalate acid esters into the soil, where they can be taken up in vegetables and pose a human health risk when the food is consumed. Film fragments left in fields can also accumulate pesticides and other toxins applied to crops. This is a special risk for sheep, goats and other livestock grazing on crop stalks because of their potential to ingest plastic material or the chemicals that leach from it. Further if this toxic plastic makes its way into rivers and oceans, which can be toxic for aquatic life.

- a) Effect on water movement: The most important consequence is that the residue can prevent the penetration and flow of water within the plough layer and surface layer of soil, reducing infiltration and affecting the water absorption of the soil.
- b) Effect on earthworms: A mixed response on the earthworms was reported. In one study, earthworms *Lumbricus terrestris* exposed to concentration of 28% microplastics (w/w in dry plant litter) and above, experienced growth inhibition (1.4 mg weight gain compared to 10.3 mg weight gain in control with no exposure to microplastic) and subsequently died (8–25% compared to 0% in control with no exposure to microplastic) even though their reproduction was unaffected (Huerta Lwanga *et al.*, 2016). These are high exposure concentrations that could occur under contaminated land scenario. Another study using *Eisenia fetida* exposed to 0.25 and 0.5% of microplastic (w/w in dry soil) showed no growth inhibition, with growth inhibition only occurring at exposure concentrations 1% (Cao *et al.*, 2017).
- c) Effect on algae: Studies on algae in the aquatic environment showed that nanoplastics are adsorbed onto the cell wall of algae such as *Scenedesmus*, *Chlorella* and *Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata* (Bhattacharya *et al.*, 2010). These experiments indicated these nanopolystyrenes were not lethal to the algae at concentrations up to 100 mg/L. However, they did reveal that these nanoplastics can lead to the physical inhibition of algal photosynthesis due to increased water turbidity and light scattering, coverage of the algal cell surface with microplastics, or immobilisation of algae at concentration of around 1.5 mg/L and above (Bhattacharya *et al.*, 2010).

- d) Effect on microbial activity: de Souza Machado *et al.*, (2018) reported that application of microplastic particles in soil have lead to the decrease in microbial activity. As a result various fundamental processes in the soil will slow down. There will be decrease in organic matter decomposition, less nitrogen fixation, poor soil structures, less availability of nutrients and poor soil health.
- e) Effect on soil aggregation: Studies have revealed that soils contaminated with microplastic particles decrease the number of water stable aggregates (de Souza Machado *et al.*, 2018). This decrease in water stable aggregates affects various soil physical properties. Stable aggregates can provide good pore spaces that are useful for air, water, nutrient and biota movement within the soil. Large pores associated with water stable aggregates favour high infiltration rates and appropriate aeration for plant growth. Weak aggregates lead to disintegration of structure and clogging of pores. Weak aggregates at the surface may lead to the problem of surface crusting. Surface crusting prevents infiltration and enhances runoff. It also affects seed germination.
- f) Groundwater pollution: Rillig (2012)commented that microplastics can migrate through the soil profile and reach the groundwater. Bläsing and Amelung (2018) also warned of the potential of nanoplastics or colloids to pass through macropores and coarse soil. Scheurer and Bigalke (2018) suggested the probability of microplastics to be transferred to groundwater in areas with high groundwater table and coarse soils. Heavy metals have been observed to be adsorbed on the surface of microplastics (Brennecke et al., 2016). Microplastics can move vertically within the soil and can leach or move through cracks along with other pollutants to groundwater, these adsorbed heavy metals can reach the ground water with these microplastic particles and lead to contamination of groundwater with these heavy metals. This contaminated groundwater when used for agricultural purposes will lead to accumulation of these heavy metals in the soil and cause phytotoxicity. Various organic pollutants and pesticides like phenanthrene and DDT have also been observed to be adsorbed to microplastic particles (Bakir et al., 2014). The contaminated groundwater may even be used for consumption purposes. Evidence of pathogenic bacteria Vibrio sp. present on microplastics have also been found (Kirstein et al., 2016). The consumption of the

contaminated ground water may lead to various physiological disorders in various organisms.

How to combat the microplastic pollution

- Manufacturing of biodegradable plastics and their use in agriculture-Cellulose Acetate (CA) is a synthetic product that is derived from cellulose that is found in each part of a plant. Research shows that CA degrades and is reduced by 70% of its weight after 18 months in nature. There are a few new fossil fuel plastics that are also biodegradable. The most common ones are Polybutylene succinate (PBS), Polycaprolactone (PCL), Polybutyrate adipate terephthalate (PBAT) and Polyvinyl alcohol (PVOH/PVA).
- Safe collection and proper disposal of used plastics
- Use of natural mulches such as rice straws, hay, leaves etc. as these will reduce the cost of cultivation as well as provide natural materials to soil for degradation.
- Banning or controlling the use of oxo-plastics- These contain additives that cause the material to become brittle and break apart into fragments when exposed to UV light, heat and/or oxygen. Several studies show oxo-degradable plastics fragment in field conditions (Steinmetz *et al.* 2016).
- Controlling or banning the use of microplastic beads in cosmetics-Plastic microbeads can no longer be used in cosmetics and personal care products in the UK and US. Such initiatives must be further aggravated.
- Screening of microplastic particles coming from sewage and sludge through filtration- Wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs) can act as a barrier but also as entrance routes for microplastics to aquatic environment. Conventional wastewater treatment with primary and secondary treatment processes can remove MPs from the wastewater up to 99%. Several filters and microplastic removal methods are in use such as discfilters, rapid sand filters, dissolved air floatation method and membrane bioreactors (Talvitie *et.al.*, 2017).
- Use of degradable coatings for coated fertilizers- Very common example for bio degradable coated fertilizers is the neem coated urea. Treinyte *et al.* (2017) showed that these coatings did perform the task of slow release of fertilizers as well as the coatings of the granules of the fertilizers strongly influenced the development of the systems of roots of tomatoes.

- Screening of plastics before composting
- Microbial degradation- Several bacteria species have been reported to degrade plastic polymers. For example, polyethylene was degraded by *Staphylococcus* sp., *Pseudomonas* sp., and *Bacillus* sp., isolated from soil (Singh *et al.*, 2016), and polystyrene was degraded by *Rhodococcus ruber* (Mor and Sivan, 2008).

Conclusion

It is evident that the microplastics that enter the soil environment through various sources adversely affect the soil health. Its movement in the soil has been seen and it has been speculated by many scientists that it can also reach the ground water along with the organic and heavy metal pollutants. It has also been observed that it does get sequestered into soil aggregates and also been seen to decrease the number of water stable aggregates. Its effect on water movement, on earthworms, algae, microbial activity, groundwater etc. has been seen. Although uptake of microplastics by plants has not yet been observed but studies still need to be done on its direct affects on plants. Since it is ingested by earthworms, these microplastics can find a way into the human body through food chain (Weithmann et al., 2018). We can say that these tiny particles of anthropogenic origin do affect the soil health adversely. The effect on soil health will also adversely affect the food production capacity. In this era of growing population where the number of mouths to be fed is increasing rapidly we cannot afford to be held back by our own activities. Although there are some microbes which have been discovered to degrade plastics the research on microplastic population is still scarce and we still do not know the amount of damage it has already done. We need to raise awareness about these tiny miscreants and start taking this type of pollution seriously.

References

- 1. Bakir, A., Rowland, S. J., & Thompson, R. C. (2014). Transport of persistent organic pollutants by microplastics in estuarine conditions. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science, 140, 14-21.
- Bhattacharya, P., Lin, S., Turner, J. P., & Ke, P. C. (2010). Physical adsorption of charged plastic nanoparticles affects algal photosynthesis. The Journal of Physical Chemistry C, 114(39), 16556-16561.
- 3. Bläsing, M., & Amelung, W. (2018). Plastics in soil: Analytical methods and possible sources. Science of the Total Environment, 612, 422-435.
- Brennecke, D., Duarte, B., Paiva, F., Caçador, I., & Canning-Clode, J. (2016). Microplastics as vector for heavy metal contamination from the marine environment. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science, 178, 189-195.

- Cao, D., Wang, X., Luo, X., Liu, G., & Zheng, H. (2017, April). Effects of polystyrene microplastics on the fitness of earthworms in an agricultural soil. In IOP conference series: earth and environmental science (Vol. 61, No. 1, pp. 1-4).
- de Souza Machado, A. A., Kloas, W., Zarfl, C., Hempel, S., & Rillig, M. C. (2018). Microplastics as an emerging threat to terrestrial ecosystems. Global change biology, 24(4), 1405-1416.
- Driedger, A. G., Dürr, H. H., Mitchell, K., & Van Cappellen, P. (2015). Plastic debris in the Laurentian Great Lakes: a review. Journal of Great Lakes Research, 41(1), 9-19.
- 8. GESAMP (2016) Sources, fate and effects of microplastics in the marine environment: part two of a global assessment, London, UK: International Maritime Organization93.
- Horton, A.A., Walton, A., Spurgeon, D.J., Lahive, E., Svendsen, C., (2017). Microplastics in freshwater and terrestrial environments: evaluating the current understanding to identify the knowledge gaps and future research priorities. Sci. Total Environ. 586, 127e141.
- Huerta Lwanga, E., Gertsen, H., Gooren, H., Peters, P., Salánki, T., Van Der Ploeg, M., Besseling, E., Koelmans, A.A. and Geissen, V., (2016). Microplastics in the terrestrial ecosystem: implications for *Lumbricus terrestris* (Oligochaeta, Lumbricidae). Environmental science & technology, 50(5), pp.2685-2691.
- Kirstein, I. V., Kirmizi, S., Wichels, A., Garin-Fernandez, A., Erler, R., Löder, M., & Gerdts, G. (2016). Dangerous hitchhikers? Evidence for potentially pathogenic *Vibrio* spp. on microplastic particles. Marine environmental research, 120, 1-8.
- 12. Leslie, H. A. (2014). Review of microplastics in cosmetics. IVM Institute for Environmental Studies, 476, 1-33.
- Mor, R., Sivan, A., (2008). Biofilm formation and partial biodegradation of polystyrene by the actinomycetes *Rhodococcus ruber*. Biodegradation 19, 851–858.
- Nizzetto, L., Futter, M., Langaas, S., (2016). Are agricultural soils dumps for microplastics of urban origin? Environ. Sci. Technol. 50, 10777e10779.
- Rillig, M.C., (2012). Microplastic in terrestrial ecosystems and the soil? Environ. Sci. Technol. 46, 6453e6454

- Scheurer, M., & Bigalke, M. (2018). Microplastics in Swiss floodplain soils. Environmental science & technology, 52(6), 3591-3598.
- Singh, G., Singh, A.K., Bhatt, K., (2016). Biodegradation of polyethylene by bacteria isolated from soil. Int. J. Res. Dev. Pharm. Life Sci. 5 (2), 2056–2062.
- Steinmetz, Z., Wollmann, C., Schaefer, M., Buchmann, C., David, J., Tröger, J., Muñoz, K., Frör, O. and Schaumann, G.E., (2016). Plastic mulching in agriculture. Trading short-term agronomic benefits for longterm soil degradation? Science of the total environment, 550, pp.690-705.
- Talvitie, J., Mikola, A., Set€al€a, O., Heinonen, M., Koistinen, A. (2017). How well is microlitter purified from wastewater? - A detailed study on the stepwise removal of microlitter in a tertiary level wastewater treatment plant. Water Res. 109, 164e172
- Thompson, R.C., Olsen, Y., Mitchell, R.P., Davis, A., Rowland, S.J., John, A.W., McGonigle, D. and Russell, A.E., (2004). Lost at sea: where is all the plastic? Science (Washington), 304(5672), p.838.
- Treinyte, J., Grazuleviciene, V., Paleckiene, R., Ostrauskaite, J., & Cesoniene, L. (2018). Biodegradable polymer composites as coating materials for granular fertilizers. Journal of Polymers and the Environment, 26(2), 543-554.
- Weithmann, N., Möller, J. N., Löder, M. G., Piehl, S., Laforsch, C., & Freitag, R. (2018). Organic fertilizer as a vehicle for the entry of microplastic into the environment. Science Advances, 4(4), eaap8060.

Anther Culture: Boon to the Commercial Agriculture

Authors

Ayesha Khatun

School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Barrackpore, West Bengal, India

Suprabuddha Kundu

School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Barrackpore, West Bengal, India

Anther Culture: Boon to the Commercial Agriculture

Ayesha Khatun and Suprabuddha Kundu

Abstract

Anther culture stands as a transformative technique in commercial agriculture, offering a boon to crop improvement and production. This innovative method involves the in vitro culture of anther tissues to induce haploid plant regeneration, bypassing the lengthy and cumbersome process of conventional breeding. Anther culture holds immense promise for accelerating the development of new crop varieties with desirable traits. By producing haploid plants, this technique facilitates rapid genetic manipulation and selection, enabling breeders to expedite the breeding process significantly. Moreover, anther culture allows for the generation of homozygous lines in a single generation, streamlining the production of genetically uniform plants. The efficiency and precision of anther culture make it particularly advantageous for crops with long breeding cycles or complex genetic backgrounds. By shortening the breeding timeline and enhancing the selection process, this technique offers a cost-effective and sustainable approach to crop improvement. Furthermore, anther culture enables the exploitation of genetic diversity and the introgression of valuable traits from wild and exotic germplasm into elite cultivars. This genetic broadening enhances the resilience and adaptability of crops to changing environmental conditions, pests, and diseases. Overall, anther culture represents a game-changing advancement in commercial agriculture, empowering breeders with a powerful tool for rapid and targeted crop improvement. Continued research and development in this field hold the potential to unlock further benefits, paving the way for enhanced productivity, sustainability, and resilience in global agriculture.

Keywords: Agriculture, anther culture, biotechnology, double haploid.

Introduction

In the rapidly evolving landscape of agriculture, biotechnological advancements have become vital in meeting the increasing demands for food,

fiber, and other agricultural products. Among these advancements, anther culture stands out as a revolutionary technique that holds immense potential for commercial agriculture. Anther culture, a type of haploid culture, involves the *in vitro* cultivation of anthers to produce haploid plants, which can be doubled to produce homozygous diploids. These homozygous plants are invaluable in plant breeding programs, as they significantly shorten the time required to achieve true breeding lines. This article explores the significance of anther culture, its process, and its implications for commercial agriculture.

It is more than thirty years since the publication of the first report on anther culture in Datura innoxia by Guha and Maheshwari (1964). After an initial lag of 2-3 years, the activity in this area increased, especially after the publication of the work on anther culture in tobacco by Nitsch and Nitsch (1969). Realizing the importance of this technique in obtaining haploid plants, and, thereby, homozygous diploids in economically important plants, a large number of laboratories in Universities, Research Institutes and Agri cultural Universities started adopting this technique to the plant of their choice. Success was achieved in rice (Niizeki and Oono, 1968) and later many other plants Maheshwari et at., 1980, 1982; Vasil 1980; Heberle-Bars, 1985). Behind this success there were sustained efforts to modify the technique and other growth conditions to suit the requirements of plant species or even a clone or a cultivar. Although this is true even today, yet a survey of the published reports reveals that there are some common guidelines which can be adopted to achieve success. In this review we have attempted to highlight these parameters and also, where ever necessary, given specific examples. Besides this, we have tried to put together some of the significant developments that have contributed to our understanding of the physiological and biochemical basis of androgenesis.

The process of anther culture

The original technique of anther culture developed by Guha and Maheshwari (1964, 1966), has been modified by various workers. In many species, success has been achieved even with cultures of isolated microspores/pollen grains or with inflorescence culture. Anther culture is a specialized technique within the broader field of plant tissue culture. It involves the isolation and culture of anthers, the male reproductive organs in flowers, which contain pollen grains. The key objective of anther culture is to induce the development of haploid plants directly from the microspores (immature pollen grains) within the anther. The process typically involves the following steps:

Selection of donor plants: The success of anther culture largely depends on the choice of donor plants. Plants in optimal health and at the right developmental stage are selected to provide the anthers (Maluszynski *et al.*, 2003).

Isolation of anthers: Anthers are carefully excised from the flower buds under sterile conditions. The developmental stage of the microspores within the anthers is crucial; they should be at the uninucleate stage for optimal results (Ferrie & Caswell, 2011).

Culture initiation: The excised anthers are placed on a nutrient-rich culture medium, often supplemented with plant growth regulators like auxins and cytokinins. The culture medium provides the necessary nutrients and hormones for the microspores to undergo embryogenesis or organogenesis (Forster *et al.*, 2007).

Induction of haploid embryos: Under appropriate culture conditions, the microspores within the anthers start dividing and forming embryoids, which can develop into haploid plants. This stage is critical and may require specific temperature treatments, such as cold pre-treatment, to enhance embryogenesis (Germanà, 2011).

Regeneration of plants: The haploid embryos are transferred to a regeneration medium, where they develop into complete plants. These haploid plants can be treated with colchicine or other chromosome-doubling agents to produce homozygous diploid plants (Murovec & Bohanec, 2012).

Controversies in the mode of action in androgenesis

It is widely accepted that androgenetic embryo formation happens due to shift in gametophytic development to sporophytic one but it is still controversial about the precise moment it occurs. The indeterministic theory argues that, shift occurs after the detachment of flower bud from the donor plant and culture conditions are responsible for it. According to this argument, every pollen grain cultured are capable of androgenic, if cultivated them before switching off of gametophytic development-determining genes (Vasil, 1973). On the other hand, the deterministic theory states that environment affects male gamete differentiation during PMC meiosis. During normal meiosis, gametophytic determinants are maintained, and sporophytic determinants are eliminated. If the sporophytic determinants are maintained due to abnormal PMC meiosis, then cell become potentially androgenic. According to Heberle-Bors (1985), the androgenic capacity of the microspores is determined only at meiosis; after meiosis, it is only the viability of this pre-determined pollen that can be affected. It is proposed that after
meiosis, pollen grain has one more chance to become embryogenic during uninucleate pollen stage.

Factors affecting androgenesis

Androgenesis has been reported in more than 200 species, but *in vitro* production of haploids by this approach is limited to only few crops. Several endogenous and exogenous factors play a role in determining the embryogenecity in microspore. Most crucial factors are genotype of the donor plant and its growth conditions. In many cases, two different cultures of same genotype exhibit considerable variation in the same culture medium. Thus, it is often advised to modify the established protocols to deal with the new system

Advantages of anther culture in commercial agriculture

One of the most significant advantages of anther culture is the ability to produce completely homozygous lines in a single generation. Traditional breeding methods require several generations of selfing to achieve homozygosity, making anther culture a time-saving tool in plant breeding (Touraev et al., 2001). By reducing the time needed to develop homozygous lines, anther culture increases the efficiency of breeding programs. This is particularly beneficial in the development of hybrid varieties, where pure lines are essential (Seguí-Simarro, 2016). Anther culture facilitates the production of doubled haploids, which are valuable in creating uniform and stable plant varieties. Doubled haploids are genetically identical, ensuring consistency in the quality of agricultural products (Jacquard et al., 2009). The ability to rapidly develop and select for desirable traits, such as disease resistance, drought tolerance, and improved yield, makes anther culture a powerful tool for crop improvement. This is crucial in responding to the challenges posed by climate change and the need for sustainable agriculture (Ferrie & Möllers, 2011). Anther culture can be a cost-effective alternative to traditional breeding methods, as it reduces the number of generations required to achieve desired traits. This can lead to significant savings in time, labor, and resources (Forster et al., 2007).

Applications in various crops

Anther culture has been successfully applied to a wide range of crops, including cereals, vegetables, fruits, and ornamental plants. In cereals like rice, wheat, and barley, anther culture has been instrumental in developing high-yielding and disease-resistant varieties (Seguí-Simarro, 2016). In vegetables such as peppers and tomatoes, this technique has facilitated the rapid introduction of desirable traits (Germanà, 2011). The application of anther

culture in fruit crops like citrus and grapes has also shown promise in improving quality and yield (Murovec & Bohanec, 2012). Additionally, in ornamental plants, anther culture is used to develop new and improved cultivars with unique traits (Maluszynski *et al.*, 2003).

Challenges and future prospects

Despite its numerous advantages, anther culture is not without challenges. The success rate of anther culture can be influenced by various factors, including the genotype of the donor plant, the developmental stage of the microspores, and the culture conditions. Some plant species exhibit recalcitrance to anther culture, making it difficult to obtain haploid plants. Moreover, the process of doubling the chromosomes to produce homozygous diploids can sometimes result in undesirable mutations (Germanà, 2011).

However, ongoing research and technological advancements continue to address these challenges. The development of new culture media, optimization of growth conditions, and the use of molecular markers to select for desirable traits are all contributing to the improvement of anther culture techniques. As these challenges are overcome, the potential of anther culture in commercial agriculture will only continue to grow.

Conclusion

Anther culture represents a significant advancement in the field of plant biotechnology, offering numerous benefits to commercial agriculture. Its ability to rapidly produce homozygous lines, enhance breeding efficiency, and accelerate crop improvement makes it an invaluable tool in the development of high-quality, resilient, and productive crop varieties. As the demand for sustainable and efficient agricultural practices increases, anther culture will undoubtedly play a crucial role in meeting these challenges and driving the future of commercial agriculture.

References

- 1. Ferrie, A. M. R., & Caswell, K. L. (2011). Isolated microspore culture techniques and recent progress for haploid and doubled haploid plant production. Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture, 104(3), 301–309.
- Ferrie, A. M. R., & Möllers, C. (2011). Haploids and doubled haploids in Brassica spp. for genetic and genomic research. Plant Cell Reports, 30(6), 911–922.
- 3. Forster, B. P., Heberle-Bors, E., Kasha, K. J., & Touraev, A. (2007). The resurgence of haploids in higher plants. Springer.

- 4. Germanà, M. A. (2011). Anther culture for haploid and doubled haploid production. Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture, 104(3), 283–300.
- 5. Guha, S. and S.C. Maheshwari, 1964. *In vitro* production of embryos from anthers of Datura. Nature (London) 204: 497.
- Guha, S. and S.C. Maheshwari, 1966. Cell division and differentiation of embryos in the pollen grains of Datura *in vitro*. Nature (London) 212: 97– 98.
- Heberle-Bors, E. and W. Odenbach, 1985. *In vitro* pollen embryogenesis and cytoplasmic male sterility in Triticum aestivum. Z. Pflanzenzüchtg. 95: 14–22.
- Jacquard, C., Wojnarowiez, G., Clement, C., & Revet, B. (2009). Anther culture in barley: Anther pre-treatment to improve green plant production. Plant Cell Reports, 28(1), 109–115.
- 9. Maheshwari, S.C., A. Rashid and A.K. Tyagi, 1982. Haploids from pollen grains–Retrospect and Prospect. Am. J. Bot. 69: 865–879.
- Maheshwari, S.C., A.K. Tyagi, K. Malhotra and S.K. Sopory, 1980. Induction of haploidy from pollen grains in angiosperms, the current status. Theor. Appl. Genet. 58: 193–206.
- Maluszynski, M., Kasha, K. J., Forster, B. P., & Szarejko, I. (2003). Doubled haploid production in crop plants: A manual. Springer Science & Business Media.
- 12. Murovec, J., & Bohanec, B. (2012). Haploids and doubled haploids in plant breeding. Plant Breeding Reviews, 36, 107–141.
- Niizeki, H. and K. Oono, 1968. Induction of haploid rice plant from anther culture. Proc. Japan Acad. 44: 554–557.
- Nitsch, J.P. and C. Nitsch, 1969. Haploid plants from pollen grains. Science 163: 85–87.
- Seguí-Simarro, J. M. (2016). Androgenesis revisited. Botanical Review, 82, 301–346.
- 16. Touraev, A., Forster, B. P., & Jain, S. M. (2001). Advances in haploid production in higher plants. Springer.
- 17. Vasil, I.K., 1980. Androgenetic haploids. Int. Rev. Cytol. Suppl. 11A: 195–223.

Advancing Agriculture through Chloroplast Genetic Engineering: Challenges and Opportunities

Authors

Shreya Modak

School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Barrackpore, West Bengal, India

Arup Dutta

School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Barrackpore, West Bengal, India

Avishek Chatterjee

School of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Barrackpore, West Bengal, India

Advancing Agriculture through Chloroplast Genetic Engineering: Challenges and Opportunities

Shreya Modak, Arup Dutta and Avishek Chatterjee

Abstract

Chloroplasts, essential organelles in land plants derived from ancient cyanobacteria endosymbionts, harbor their own circular DNA, offering a promising avenue for enhancing photosynthetic efficiency and crop yield. Despite this potential, conventional plant genetic engineering predominantly targets the nuclear genome. This review provides a comprehensive examination of chloroplast genetic engineering, spanning historical insights and biological foundations to current methodologies and emerging techniques. Chloroplasts serve as vital contributors to global sustainability, functioning as potent biological factories rich in energy and essential resources. Transformation of the chloroplast genome offers distinct advantages over nuclear modifications, including precise gene integration via homologous recombination. heightened transgene expression, and minimized environmental gene dispersion through maternal inheritance, thus circumventing major criticisms of traditional plant genetic engineering. Significant strides have been made in chloroplast genetic engineering, leading to advancements in stress resistance, phytoremediation, and production of valuable compounds such as vaccine antigens, biofuels, and industrial enzymes. However, challenges persist, hindering the widespread adoption of chloroplast transformation in economically important crops. These obstacles encompass the scarcity of species-specific regulatory elements, difficulties in selection and shoot regeneration, and phenotypic alterations resulting from excessive foreign gene expression in transplastomic plants. This review critically evaluates the latest advancements in chloroplast transformation, with a particular emphasis on traits of economic significance. By addressing current limitations and exploring innovative strategies to overcome them, this comprehensive overview aims to facilitate the broader application and exploitation of chloroplast transformation technology in crop improvement and sustainable agricultural practices.

Keywords: Chloroplast, cyanobacteria, phytoremedation, endosymbionts.

Introduction

Plant biotechnologists have long been intrigued by the prospect of engineering chloroplasts, the organelles responsible for photosynthesis, due to their unique genetic makeup and characteristics. Among the three genomes present in plant cells, chloroplasts harbor a transformable genome alongside the nuclear genome. This plastid genome, found in photosynthetically active seed plants, consists of a small circular mapping genome encoding a limited number of genes. The ability to engineer this genome through genetic transformation has sparked significant interest within the plant biotechnology community (McBride *et al.* 1995; Oey *et al.* 2009)

The allure of chloroplast engineering lies in several distinct advantages over nuclear genome modification. Firstly, chloroplasts are abundant within plant cells, with multiple copies of the plastid genome per organelle. This abundance allows for the expression of foreign genes at exceptionally high levels, often surpassing what is achievable through nuclear genome expression. Additionally, transgene integration into the plastid genome occurs exclusively through homologous recombination, ensuring precise genetic modifications-a contrast to the non-homologous recombination prevalent in nuclear genome engineering. Furthermore, the prokaryotic origin of chloroplasts, derived from cyanobacteria through endosymbiosis, renders them free from gene silencing and other epigenetic mechanisms that might impede stable transgene expression (Bock et al. 2008; Maliga et al. 2004). The organization of many plastid genes into operons offers the opportunity to stack transgenes efficiently. Moreover, chloroplast transformation holds promise as a tool for transgene containment, particularly due to the maternal inheritance pattern prevalent in most angiosperms, significantly reducing transgene transmission through pollen. Despite the significant progress made since the pioneering transformation of tobacco more than two decades ago, chloroplast engineering remains confined to a limited number of plant species. Notably, monocotyledonous species, including major cereal crops crucial for global food security, remain resistant to chloroplast transformation. Overcoming these challenges necessitates concerted efforts and sustained investments in both academia and industry. In this review, recent advancements in chloroplast genome engineering in seed plants are examined, focusing on emerging tools and techniques that could expand the scope of transplastomic Additionally, promising applications of transplastomic technology. approaches in various biotechnological endeavors are highlighted, offering glimpses into the potential commercialization of this technology in the near future.

Transplastomic plants generation

The advancement of transplastomic technology over the past two decades has seen relatively little change in the fundamental methodology of plastid transformation. Biolistic transformation, facilitated by particle gun-mediated delivery, remains the primary method, with occasional use of polyethylene glycol (PEG)-mediated protoplast transformation as an alternative (Maliga et al. 2004; Tungsuchat-Huang, 2012)). While PEG-mediated transformation offers freedom from patent restrictions, it is more technically demanding and time-consuming compared to biolistics. The absence of a tissue cultureindependent protocol akin to methods used in nuclear transformation limits the accessibility of transplastomic technology. Recent efforts have focused on post-transformation manipulations, such as marker gene removal using sitespecific recombinases delivered via Agrobacterium tumefaciens injection into axillary buds of greenhouse-grown plants (Svab et al. 1993). Although promising, achieving truly tissue culture-independent primary manipulation of the plastid genome remains a distant goal. Similarly, selection procedures for transplastomic plants have seen little evolution. The spectinomycin resistance gene aadA remains the predominant selectable marker, although alternative markers have been developed. These alternatives, while less efficient, offer advantages in intellectual property considerations and supertransformation. Despite these developments, plastid transformation remains limited to a few species, necessitating significant optimization efforts for new species. Alternative approaches, such as transferring transgenic plastids between species through protoplast fusion or grafting, offer potential solutions but are laborious and applicable only to a limited range of species (Huang et al. 2002; Day et al. 2011).

A recent breakthrough in plastid genome transfer involves the migration of plastid DNA between cells in grafted plants. This method allows for the transfer of transgenic plastid genomes between species by excising the graft site and selecting for the transfer of transgenic plastids into cells of the recipient species (Stegemann, 2009). While promising, this approach is restricted to closely related species and may lead to plastome-genome incompatibilities, resulting in mutant phenotypes with increasing phylogenetic distance. Overall, while significant strides have been made in plastid transformation and manipulation techniques, challenges persist in broadening the range of species amenable to transplastomic technology and achieving truly tissue culture-independent methods. Continued research efforts are essential to overcome these hurdles and realize the full potential of chloroplast engineering in plants (Stegemann, 2012; Ruhlman *et al.* 2010).



Fig 1: Vectors for the chloroplast transfer

Tools for plastid transgene expression

The excitement surrounding chloroplast transformation in biotechnology stems from the remarkable potential for high levels of foreign protein accumulation achievable by expressing transgenes from the plastid genome. Despite numerous successes in achieving impressive expression rates, challenges persist in the expression of certain proteins, often attributed to issues with protein stability. While the regulation of transcription and RNA stability in plastids is relatively well understood, knowledge regarding protein stability remains limited. Recent studies have highlighted the importance of the N-terminus in determining protein stability, suggesting potential strategies for enhancing stability through N-terminal manipulation or fusion with stable proteins. However, the complexity of protein stability and folding in plastids presents a significant challenge for future research (Tregoning, 2003 & Daniell, 2006)

Another advantage of transplastomic technology lies in the prokaryotic nature of plastid gene expression machinery, enabling the stacking of multiple transgenes in operons for coordinated expression. While operon expression has shown success in certain cases, challenges remain in ensuring efficient translation of all cistrons within an operon. Incorporating intercistronic expression elements (IEEs) derived from plastid operons can enhance operon expression by facilitating post-transcriptional cleavage into monocistronic units. This approach offers valuable tools for synthetic operon design and improving operon expression in transgenic chloroplasts (Bock *et al.* 2013; Drechsel *et al.* 2010).

Plastid biotechnology faces limitations in the expression of plastid genes

in non-green tissues such as fruits, tubers, and seeds. Genome-wide analyses have revealed down-regulation of plastid genes in these organs, highlighting the need for strategies to enhance transgene expression. Hybrid expression elements combining promoters from genes with high mRNA accumulation in fruits or tubers with 5' untranslated regions (UTRs) from mRNAs showing strong polysome association offer promising solutions for improving transgene expression levels in non-leafy tissues, opening new avenues for metabolic engineering and recombinant protein production. Challenges arise when the expression of transgenes in plastids leads to severe mutant phenotypes, hindering autotrophic growth. Solutions include heterotrophic or mixotrophic cultivation in bioreactors, which offer controlled conditions for biomass production but incur higher costs compared to autotrophic growth. Alternatively, inducible transgene expression systems can mitigate deleterious effects by regulating transgene expression. While nuclear transgenes offer inducible expression, plastid-only systems based on bacterial lac repressor-lac operator or synthetic riboswitches provide viable alternatives for tight control and high induction rates without compromising containment advantages. Efficient and cost-effective strategies for the purification of recombinant proteins from transplastomic plants are crucial for chloroplast biotechnology. Recent advancements include the evaluation of purification tags and the targeting of foreign proteins to plastoglobules, facilitating their enrichment through flotation centrifugation. These developments contribute to the expanding toolbox for chloroplast biotechnology, enhancing the feasibility and versatility of plastid transgene expression for various applications (Michoux et al. 2013).

Application of plastid transformation

Plastid transformation technology has been widely utilized for various applications, including the insertion of resistance genes into the plastid genome to confer tolerance to herbicides or resistance to insect pests (Bock *et al.* 2007). Additionally, plastid transformation has been instrumental in expressing recombinant proteins for molecular farming, such as vaccines, and engineering metabolic pathways. Recent advancements in these areas include the development of plastid resistance genes against D-amino acids for potential herbicidal use and the successful expression of enzymes from the antioxidant system to enhance tolerance to abiotic stresses. In molecular farming, the scope of plastid transformation has expanded beyond antigen expression for subunit vaccines. In recent years, numerous pharmaceutical proteins have been successfully expressed in transgenic plastids, including phage-derived endolysins with potential as next-generation antibiotics

(Daniell *et al.* 2009). Promising progress has also been made in expressing antibody fragments, blood coagulation factors, and cytokines like transforming growth factor b (TGF-b) for wound healing applications. An emerging area of chloroplast biotechnology involves the expression of industrial enzymes, particularly those relevant to biofuel production. Plastid transformation has demonstrated high-level expression of enzymes essential for converting cellulosic biomass into fermentable sugars, offering potential solutions to challenges in biofuel production. Some enzymes sourced from thermophilic organisms possess thermostable properties advantageous for industrial-scale biomass processing (Gisby *et al.* 2012; Poage *et al.* 2011).

Transplastomic plants are also being explored as factories for producing "green chemicals," including raw materials and building blocks for the chemical industry. Notably, the production of polyhydroxybutyrate (PHB), a renewable bioplastic, in transplastomic tobacco plants showcases the successful redirection of plant metabolism toward massive synthesis of novel compounds. Despite challenges such as reduced plant growth due to high-level accumulation of PHB, solutions like inducible expression systems offer potential remedies. The increasing number of proof-of-concept studies employing plastid transformation in biotechnological research, coupled with significant progress in high-level recombinant protein expression and multigene engineering, holds great promise for the commercialization of the technology. While products derived from transplastomic plants have yet to enter the market, particularly in the pharmaceutical sector, commercialization is anticipated in the near future, reflecting the growing potential of plastid transformation for diverse industrial applications.

Conclusion

Chloroplasts, originating from ancient cyanobacteria endosymbionts, possess their own circular DNA, offering unique advantages for genetic manipulation compared to the nuclear genome. While conventional plant genetic engineering has primarily targeted the nuclear genome, chloroplast transformation offers distinct benefits, including precise gene integration via homologous recombination, heightened transgene expression, and reduced environmental gene dispersion through maternal inheritance. Significant progress has been made in chloroplast genetic engineering, leading to advancements in stress resistance, phytoremediation, and the production of valuable compounds such as vaccines, biofuels, and industrial enzymes. However, challenges persist, including limited species availability for transformation, difficulties in selection and shoot regeneration, and phenotypic alterations in transplastomic plants. Despite these obstacles, recent breakthroughs, such as plastid DNA migration between grafted plants, offer promising solutions for expanding the scope of transplastomic technology. Tools for plastid transgene expression have also evolved, with a focus on enhancing protein stability, optimizing operon expression, and improving transgene expression in non-green tissues. Inducible expression systems and purification strategies further enhance the feasibility and versatility of plastid transgene expression for various applications. The application of plastid transformation spans resistance gene insertion, recombinant protein expression for molecular farming, and engineering metabolic pathways for biofuel production and green chemical synthesis. While commercialization of transplastomic products has yet to occur, particularly in the pharmaceutical sector, the increasing number of proof-of-concept studies and significant progress in high-level recombinant protein expression hold promise for the future adoption of chloroplast transformation in diverse industrial applications.

Overall, the comprehensive examination of chloroplast genetic engineering presented in this article underscores its potential to revolutionize agriculture and biotechnology. By addressing current limitations and exploring innovative strategies, chloroplast transformation technology can contribute to crop improvement, sustainable agricultural practices, and the development of novel bioproducts, paving the way for a more resilient and resource-efficient agricultural future.

References

- 1. Bock R: Strategies for metabolic pathway engineering with multiple transgenes. Plant Mol Biol 2013, 83.
- Bock R: Plastid biotechnology: prospects for herbicide and insect resistance, metabolic engineering and molecular farming. Curr Opin Biotechnol 2007, 18:100-106.
- Bock R: Transgenic plastids in basic research and plant biotechnology. J Mol Biol 2001, 312:425-438.
- 4. Daniell H, Singh ND, Mason H, Streatfield SJ: Plant-made vaccine antigens and biopharmaceuticals. Trends Plant Sci 2009, 14:669-679.
- 5. Daniell H: Production of biopharmaceuticals and vaccines in plants via the chloroplast genome. Biotechnol J 2006, 1:1071-1079.
- Day A, Goldschmidt-Clermont M: The chloroplast transformation toolbox: selectable markers and marker removal. Plant Biotechnol J 2011, 9:540-553.

- Drechsel O, Bock R: Selection of Shine-Dalgarno sequences in plastids. Nucleic Acids Res 2010, 39:1427-1438
- Gisby MF, Mudd EA, Day A: Growth of transplastomics cells expressing D-amino acid oxidase in chloroplasts is tolerant to D-alanine and inhibited by D-valine. Plant Physiol 2012, 160:2219-2226
- 9. Huang F-C, Klaus SMJ, Herz S, Zou Z, Koop H-U, Golds TJ: Efficient plastid transformation in tobacco using the aphA-6 gene and kanamycin selection. Mol Genet Genomics 2002, 268:19-27.
- 10. Maliga P, Bock R: Plastid biotechnology: food, fuel, and medicine for the 21st century. Plant Physiol 2011, 155:1501-1510.
- 11. Maliga P: Plastid transformation in higher plants. Annu Rev Plant Biol 2004, 55:289-313.
- McBride KE, Svab Z, Schaaf DJ, Hogan PS, Stalker DM, Maliga P: Amplification of a chimeric Bacillus gene in chloroplasts leads to an extraordinary level of an insecticidal protein in tobacco. Bio/Technology 1995, 13:362-365.
- Michoux F, Ahmad N, Hennig A, Nixon PJ, Warzecha H: Production of leafy biomass using temporary immersion bioreactors: an alternative platform to express proteins in transplastomic plants with drastic phenotypes. Planta 2013, 237:903-908.
- 14. Oey M, Lohse M, Kreikemeyer B, Bock R: Exhaustion of the chloroplast protein synthesis capacity by massive expression of a highly stable protein antibiotic. Plant J 2009, 57:436-445.
- 15. Poage M, Le Martret B, Jansen MAK, Nugent GD, Dix PJ: Modification of reactive oxygen species scavenging capacity of chloroplasts through plastid transformation. Plant Mol Biol 2011, 76:371-384
- Ruhlman T, Verma D, Samson N, Daniell H: The role of heterologous chloroplast sequence elements in transgene integration and expression. Plant Physiol 2010, 152:2088-2104.
- 17. Stegemann S, Bock R: Exchange of genetic material between cells in plant tissue grafts. Science 2009, 324:649-651.
- Stegemann S, Keuthe M, Greiner S, Bock R: Horizontal transfer of chloroplast genomes between plant species. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2012, 109:2434-2438
- 19. Svab Z, Maliga P: High-frequency plastid transformation in tobacco by

selection for a chimeric aadA gene. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1993, 90:913-917.

20. Tungsuchat-Huang T, Maliga P: Visual marker and Agrobacteriumdelivered recombinase enable the manipulation of the plastid genome in greenhouse-grown tobacco plants. Plant J 2012, 70:717-725.

Navigating Climate-Smart Agriculture: Principles, Practices, and Prospects

<u>Author</u>

Sayani Bhowmick

Department of Agriculture, Swami Vivekananda University, Barrackpore, West Bengal, India

Navigating Climate-Smart Agriculture: Principles, Practices, and Prospects

Sayani Bhowmick

Abstract

Climate change poses significant challenges to global agricultural systems, threatening food security, rural livelihoods, and environmental sustainability. In response, Climate-Smart Agriculture (CSA) has emerged as a holistic approach to enhance agricultural resilience, mitigate greenhouse gas emissions, and sustainably increase productivity. This manuscript provides a comprehensive exploration of CSA, synthesizing the latest scientific research, empirical evidence, and practical insights to navigate the complexities of agricultural sustainability in a changing climate. Drawing upon diverse interdisciplinary perspectives, the manuscript elucidates the principles, practices, and implications of CSA, offering practical recommendations for its effective implementation. Through a nuanced examination of CSA's socioeconomic, environmental, and ethical dimensions, this manuscript aims to empower policymakers, researchers, practitioners, and stakeholders with the knowledge and tools needed to embrace CSA effectively in diverse agricultural contexts. By fostering a deeper understanding of CSA's transformative potential, this manuscript seeks to catalyse collaborative action towards building resilient, sustainable, and equitable agricultural systems capable of addressing the challenges of a changing climate.

Keywords: Climate change, climate-smart agriculture, agriculture, global food system, resilience, sustainability.

Introduction

In the face of escalating climate change impacts, the agricultural sector stands as both a victim and a solution. Increasingly erratic weather patterns, rising temperatures, and shifting precipitation regimes pose unprecedented challenges to global food security, rural livelihoods, and environmental sustainability. Addressing these challenges necessitates a paradigm shift in agricultural practices one that integrates climate adaptation, mitigation, and resilience into every facet of agricultural production and management. Enter Climate-Smart Agriculture (CSA), a holistic approach that offers a promising pathway to navigate the complexities of agricultural sustainability in a changing climate.

As defined by the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), CSA encompasses "agriculture that sustainably increases productivity, enhances resilience (adaptation), reduces or removes greenhouse gases (mitigation), and enhances achievement of national food security and development goals." (FAO, 2010) At its core, CSA seeks to optimize the synergies between agricultural productivity, climate resilience, and environmental stewardship, thereby fostering a more sustainable and equitable agricultural system.

This manuscript serves as a comprehensive exploration of Climate-Smart Agriculture, synthesizing the latest scientific research, empirical evidence, and practical insights to provide a nuanced understanding of its principles, practices, and implications. By drawing upon a diverse array of interdisciplinary perspectives, this manuscript aims to empower policymakers, researchers, practitioners, and stakeholders with the knowledge and tools needed to embrace CSA effectively in diverse agricultural contexts.

In recent years, numerous studies have highlighted the potential of Climate-Smart Agriculture to enhance agricultural sustainability amidst a changing climate. For instance, research by Lipper *et al.* (2014) underscores the role of CSA practices such as agroforestry, conservation agriculture, and improved water management in bolstering resilience to climate variability and extreme weather events.

Against this backdrop, this manuscript aims to elucidate the key concepts, strategies, and challenges associated with Climate-Smart Agriculture, offering practical insights and recommendations for its effective implementation. Through a nuanced exploration of CSA's socio-economic, environmental, and ethical dimensions, we endeavour to foster a deeper understanding of its transformative potential in building resilient, sustainable, and equitable agricultural systems.

As humanity stands at a pivotal juncture in its relationship with the environment, the principles of Climate-Smart Agriculture offer a beacon of hope amidst the uncertainties of a changing climate. Through concerted efforts and collective action, we can navigate the complexities of agricultural sustainability and cultivate a resilient agricultural landscape that nourishes both people and the planet for generations to come.

Principles of climate-smart agriculture

Enhancing resilience: Climate-Smart Agriculture prioritizes building resilience to climate variability and extreme weather events. This involves implementing practices that improve soil health, enhance water management, and diversify crop and livestock systems to withstand climate-related stresses (Lipper *et al.*, 2014).

Promoting adaptation: CSA integrates adaptive strategies to anticipate and respond to the impacts of climate change on agricultural systems. This includes the adoption of climate-resilient crop varieties, agroforestry, and sustainable land management practices tailored to local environmental conditions (FAO, 2013).

Mitigating greenhouse gas emissions: CSA seeks to reduce agricultural greenhouse gas emissions and enhance carbon sequestration to mitigate climate change. Practices such as conservation agriculture, agroforestry, and improved livestock management contribute to reducing emissions while maintaining or enhancing productivity (Smith *et al.*, 2007).

Increasing productivity: Climate-Smart Agriculture aims to sustainably increase agricultural productivity to meet the growing demand for food, feed, fiber, and fuel. By adopting innovative technologies, precision farming techniques, and improved agronomic practices, CSA enhances resource use efficiency and crop yields while minimizing environmental impacts (Vermeulen *et al.*, 2012).

Fostering social inclusivity: CSA emphasizes the importance of inclusive governance processes, participatory decision-making, and equitable access to resources and information. By engaging with diverse stakeholders, including smallholder farmers, women, youth, and indigenous communities, CSA ensures that agricultural development is socially just and inclusive (FAO, 2013).

Safeguarding ecosystem health: Climate-Smart Agriculture prioritizes the conservation and restoration of ecosystem services essential for agricultural productivity and resilience. This involves integrating biodiversity conservation, habitat restoration, and ecosystem-based approaches into agricultural landscapes to enhance natural pest and disease regulation, pollination, and soil fertility (Lal, 2004).

Ensuring economic viability: CSA seeks to enhance the economic viability and profitability of agricultural systems while maintaining environmental integrity. By promoting sustainable intensification, value chain

development, and market access for smallholder farmers, CSA contributes to poverty reduction, food security, and rural livelihood enhancement (FAO, 2013).

These principles collectively form the foundation of Climate-Smart Agriculture, guiding the development and implementation of strategies to navigate agricultural sustainability in the face of a changing climate.

Strategies and practices in climate-smart agriculture

Conservation agriculture: Conservation agriculture practices, such as minimum tillage, cover cropping, and crop residue retention, help improve soil health, reduce erosion, and enhance water retention, thereby increasing resilience to climate variability (Pittelkow *et al.*, 2015).

Agroforestry: Integrating trees into agricultural landscapes through agroforestry systems provides multiple benefits, including improved soil fertility, carbon sequestration, and microclimate regulation, enhancing the resilience of farming systems to climate change (Nair *et al.*, 2010).

Water management: Sustainable water management practices, such as rainwater harvesting, drip irrigation, and soil moisture conservation, help mitigate the impacts of drought and water scarcity, ensuring the efficient use of limited water resources in agricultural production (Rockström *et al.*, 2017).

Climate-resilient crop varieties: Breeding and promoting climateresilient crop varieties that are tolerant to heat, drought, floods, and pests enable farmers to adapt to changing climatic conditions while maintaining or enhancing crop productivity (Challinor *et al.*, 2016).

Livestock management: Improving livestock management practices, such as rotational grazing, breed selection for heat tolerance, and nutrient management, reduces methane emissions, enhances carbon sequestration in pastures, and increases the resilience of livestock systems to climate change (Herrero *et al.*, 2016).

Crop diversification: Diversifying cropping systems through intercropping, crop rotation, and mixed cropping helps spread risks associated with climate variability, improves soil health and fertility, and enhances ecosystem resilience to pests and diseases (Lithourgidis *et al.*, 2011).

Carbon farming: Implementing carbon farming practices, such as agroforestry, cover cropping, and biochar application, enhances carbon sequestration in soils and biomass, mitigating greenhouse gas emissions and contributing to climate change adaptation (Minasny *et al.*, 2017).

These strategies and practices represent key components of Climate-Smart Agriculture, offering pathways to enhance agricultural sustainability and resilience in the face of a changing climate.

Benefits of climate-smart agriculture

Enhanced resilience: Climate-Smart Agriculture (CSA) practices enhance the resilience of agricultural systems to climate variability and extreme weather events. By improving soil health, water management, and crop diversity, CSA helps farmers adapt to changing climatic conditions and minimize production risks (Lipper *et al.*, 2014).

Increased productivity: CSA promotes sustainable intensification of agricultural production, leading to increased crop yields, livestock productivity, and overall farm profitability. By optimizing resource use efficiency and adopting climate-resilient crop varieties, CSA enhances agricultural productivity while minimizing environmental impacts (FAO, 2013).

Improved food security: By increasing agricultural productivity, diversifying food sources, and enhancing smallholder farmers' access to markets and technologies, CSA contributes to improving food security and nutrition outcomes, particularly in vulnerable regions prone to climate-related shocks (Campbell *et al.*, 2016).

Climate change mitigation: CSA practices, such as agroforestry, conservation agriculture, and livestock management, help mitigate greenhouse gas emissions from agricultural activities. By sequestering carbon in soils and biomass and reducing emissions from agricultural sources, CSA contributes to climate change mitigation efforts (Smith *et al.*, 2007).

Environmental sustainability: CSA promotes the conservation and restoration of natural resources, including soil, water, and biodiversity. By minimizing soil erosion, improving water quality, and preserving habitat for wildlife, CSA contributes to the long-term environmental sustainability of agricultural landscapes (Rockström *et al.*, 2017).

Challenges of climate-smart agriculture

Knowledge and awareness: One of the primary challenges in implementing CSA is the lack of awareness and knowledge among farmers and stakeholders about CSA practices and their benefits. Effective extension services and capacity-building initiatives are needed to enhance understanding and adoption of CSA practices (FAO, 2013).

Access to resources: Limited access to finance, inputs, markets, and supportive infrastructure constrains the adoption of CSA practices, particularly among smallholder farmers and marginalized communities. Addressing these barriers requires targeted investments and policy interventions to improve access to resources and markets (Vermeulen *et al.*, 2012).

Policy and institutional support: Inadequate policy frameworks, weak institutions, and competing interests often hinder the mainstreaming of CSA into agricultural policies and programs. Strengthening policy coherence, institutional coordination, and stakeholder engagement is essential to create an enabling environment for CSA adoption and implementation (FAO, 2013).

Risk management: CSA practices may entail risks and trade-offs, particularly in the short term, such as changes in yield variability, labor requirements, and input costs. Developing risk management strategies, including crop insurance, diversified income sources, and social safety nets, is crucial to support farmers in adopting CSA practices (Lipper *et al.*, 2014).

Social equity: Ensuring equitable access to resources, benefits, and decision-making processes is essential for the success and sustainability of CSA interventions. Addressing social disparities, gender inequalities, and power imbalances requires inclusive governance mechanisms and participatory approaches in CSA planning and implementation (FAO, 2013).

These benefits and challenges underscore the importance of addressing socio-economic, institutional, and policy dimensions to promote the widespread adoption and effective implementation of Climate-Smart Agriculture.

Future prospects of climate-smart agriculture

Climate-Smart Agriculture (CSA) presents a promising avenue for sustainable food production in the face of climate change. By integrating cutting-edge technologies and innovative practices, CSA aims to enhance agricultural productivity, resilience, and mitigate greenhouse gas emissions. The future of CSA holds considerable potential on several fronts.

Firstly, advancements in precision agriculture, including remote sensing, drones, and data analytics, enable farmers to make informed decisions, optimizing resource use and minimizing environmental impact. Moreover, the development of climate-resilient crop varieties and efficient irrigation systems enhances adaptability to changing climatic conditions, ensuring food security in vulnerable regions. Secondly, the adoption of agroforestry and conservation agriculture practices promotes soil health, carbon sequestration, and biodiversity conservation. These practices not only mitigate climate change but also contribute to sustainable land management and livelihood improvement for farmers.

Lastly, policy support and financial incentives are crucial for scaling up CSA initiatives globally. Governments, international organizations, and private sectors must collaborate to invest in research, infrastructure, and capacity-building programs for widespread adoption of CSA practices.

Conclusion

Climate-Smart Agriculture (CSA) emerges as a transformative approach to address the challenges of climate change in global agricultural systems. By integrating resilience-building strategies, adaptive practices, and mitigation efforts, CSA offers a pathway towards sustainable food production and rural development. The synthesis of scientific research, empirical evidence, and practical insights underscores the multifaceted benefits of CSA in enhancing productivity, resilience, and environmental sustainability. However, realizing the full potential of CSA requires concerted efforts to overcome challenges related to knowledge dissemination, resource access, policy support, and social equity. Through collaborative action and inclusive governance, CSA holds promise in fostering resilient, equitable, and environmentally sustainable agricultural systems capable of meeting the food security needs of a changing climate.

References

- Campbell, B. M., S. J. Vermeulen, P. K. Aggarwal, C. Corner-Dolloff, E. Girvetz, A. M.Loboguerrero, J. Ramirez-Villegas, T. Rosenstock, L. Sebastian, P. K. Thornton, *et al.* (2016).Reducing risks to food security from climate change. Global Food Security 11, 34–43. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.gfs.2016.06.002
- Challinor, A. J., Koehler, A. K., Ramirez-Villegas, J., Whitfield, S., & Das, B. (2016). Current warming will reduce yields unless maize breeding and seed systems adapt immediately. Nature Climate Change, 6(10), 954-958.
- 3. FAO. 2010. "Climate-Smart" agriculture: policies, practices and financing for food security, adaptation and mitigation.
- 4. FAO. (2013). Climate-Smart Agriculture Sourcebook. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.

- 5. Herrero, M., Henderson, B., Havlík, P. *et al.* Greenhouse gas mitigation potentials in the livestock sector. *Nature Clim Change* **6**, 452–461 (2016).
- 6. Lal, R. (2004). Soil carbon sequestration impacts on global climate change and food security. Science, 304: 1623-1627.
- Lipper, Leslie & Thornton, Philip & Campbell, Bruce Morgan & Baedeker, Tobias & Braimoh, Ademola & Bwalya, Martin & Caron, Patrick & Cattaneo, Andrea & Garrity, Dennis & Henry, Kevin & Hottle, Ryan & Jackson, Louise & Jarvis, Andrew & Kossam, Fred & Mann, Wendy. (2014). Climate-smart agriculture for food security. Nature Climate Change. 4. 1068–1072. 10.1038/nclimate2437.
- Lithourgidis, A. S., Dordas, C. A., Damalas, C. A., & Vlachostergios, D. N. (2011). Annual intercrops: an alternative pathway for sustainable agriculture. Australian Journal of Crop Science, 5(4), 396-410.
- Minasny, B., Malone, B.P., McBratney, A.B., Angers, D.A., Arrouays, D., Chambers, A. *et al.* (2017) Soil carbon 4 per mille. Geoderma, 292, 59– 86.
- Nair, P.K.R.; Nair, V.D.; Mohan Kumar, B.; Showalter, J.M. Carbon sequestration in agroforestry systems. Adv. Agron. 2010, 108,237–307. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2113(10)08005-3
- Pittelkow, C. M., Liang, X., Linquist, B. A., van Groenigen, K. J., Lee, J., Lundy, M. E., van Gestel, N., Six, J., Venterea, R. T., & van Kessel, C. (2015). Productivity limits and potentials of the principles of conservation agriculture. *Nature*, *517*(7534), 365–368. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature13809.
- Rockström, J., Williams, J., Daily, G. *et al.* Sustainable intensification of agriculture for human prosperity and global sustainability. *Ambio* 46, 4– 17 (2017).
- 13. Smith, P., D. Martino, Z. Cai, D. Gwary, H. Janzen, P. Kumar, B. McCarl, S. Ogle, F. O'Mara, C. Rice, B. Scholes, O. Sirotenko, 2007: Agriculture. In Climate Change 2007: Mitigation. Contribution of Working Group III to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [B. Metz, O.R. Davidson, P.R. Bosch, R. Dave, L.A. Meyer (eds)], Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA.
- Vermeulen, Sonja J., Bruce M. Campbell, and John S.I. Ingram. "Climate change and food systems." Annual Review of Environment and Resources 37 (2012): 195-222.